

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: March 24, 2014 ACCEPTED: June 11, 2014 PUBLISHED: July 10, 2014

# de Sitter vacua in type IIB string theory: classical solutions and quantum corrections

# Keshav Dasgupta,<sup>a</sup> Rhiannon Gwyn,<sup>b</sup> Evan McDonough,<sup>a</sup> Mohammed Mia<sup>c</sup> and Radu Tatar<sup>d</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> Ernest Rutherford Physics Building, McGill University, 3600 University Street, Montréal QC, H3A 2T8 Canada
- <sup>b</sup>AEI Max-Planck-Institut für Gravitationsphysik,

D-14476 Potsdam, Germany

- <sup>c</sup>Department of Physics, Purdue University, 525 Northwestern Avenue, W. Lafayette, IN 47907-2036, U.S.A.
- <sup>d</sup>Department of Mathematical Sciences,
- The University of Liverpool, Liverpool, L69 3BX, England, U.K.

*E-mail:* keshav@hep.physics.mcgill.ca, rhiannon.gwyn@aei.mpg.de, evanmc@physics.mcgill.ca, mmia@purdue.edu, Radu.Tatar@Liverpool.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We revisit the classical theory of ten-dimensional two-derivative gravity coupled to fluxes, scalar fields, D-branes, anti D-branes and Orientifold-planes. We show that such set-ups do not give rise to a four-dimensional positive curvature spacetime with the isometries of de Sitter spacetime. We further argue that a de Sitter solution in type IIB theory may still be achieved if the higher-order curvature corrections are carefully controlled. Our analysis relies on the derivation of the de Sitter condition from an explicit background solution by going beyond the supergravity limit of type IIB theory. As such this also tells us how the background supersymmetry should be broken and under what conditions D-term uplifting can be realized with non self-dual fluxes.

KEYWORDS: Flux compactifications, dS vacua in string theory, M-Theory

ARXIV EPRINT: 1402.5112

# Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	Einstein gravity in D dimensions	3
	2.1 Fluxes and scalar fields coupled to gravity	4
	2.2 Localized matter coupled to gravity	5
3	dS in type IIB string theory with branes and planes	6
	3.1 Direct product space with branes and planes	8
	3.2 Warped product manifold with branes and planes	10
4	Curvature corrections and background solutions from M-theory	12
<b>5</b>	The Einstein equations	16
	5.1 General form of the stress-energy tensor	16
	5.2 Internal $(m, n)$ components	17
	5.3 Internal $(a, b)$ components	19
	5.4 Spacetime $(t, z_1, z_2)$ components	20
6	Analysis of the EOMs and consistency conditions	21
7	Analysis of the background fluxes and additional consistency checks	24
8	A discussion on the curvature corrections	<b>2</b> 8
9	Conclusion	30

# 1 Introduction

The hot, dense state of the early universe and its subsequent evolution offer a unique testing ground for theories of high-energy physics; if string theory is the correct theory of the earliest universe, it should be possible to embed all the known results from cosmology in a consistent string theory description. Our best observational data of the early universe, from the cosmic microwave background (CMB) [1–6], and late time acceleration [7], point to a universe that is very close to spatially flat, in which large-scale structure was generated from an almost scale-invariant spectrum of primordial density perturbations with a nearly Gaussian distribution. This is consistent with a large class of inflationary models [5], which we will have in mind here, as well as a variety of alternatives to inflation [8–10].

However, the dynamics of the early universe is necessarily studied via an effective field theory (EFT) approach. Although one might expect a decoupling of energy scales, leading to suppression of higher-order terms in the Lagrangian by increasing powers of the cutoff, the predictions of inflation can be highly sensitive to corrections of both the potential or inflaton mass [11] and the kinetic terms [12, 13]. This forces one to consider the UV sensitivity of inflation, which has been addressed from many perspectives: see [11, 14] for reviews, [15] for a recent take, and [16] for a completely different approach. The dependence of cosmological observables on the detailed embedding of inflation into string theory offers a unique window into the high-energy physics of the early universe, and may provide evidence that string theory could be the correct description of physics at these scales.

A consistent string compactification with a de Sitter (or quasi de Sitter) vacuum in the 3+1 non-compact directions is crucial to such an embedding. Achieving such a compactification has proved to be an extremely difficult endeavour. No-go theorems exist for supergravity [17, 18] and for string theory (without time-dependent fields or highercurvature corrections), the well-known Maldacena-Nunez result [19]. This was extended to the heterotic case with higher-order corrections (but without non-perturbative effects) included [20, 21].

In Type II string theory, dS solutions have been studied in many works, for example [22–32]. In addition, many models of inflation in string theory have been proposed (see the reviews by [11, 14]), together with 'uplift' mechanisms for obtaining dS [33–35] by lifting an AdS minimum of the scalar potential to a metastable dS minimum.

In this paper, we revisit the question from the full ten-dimensional setup of Type IIB string theory, generalizing the analysis of Maldacena-Nunez [19] by including extended localized sources in the gravity action. In particular we consider the traced-over Einstein equations, identifying the conditions for achieving de Sitter space in the non-compact dimensions for the cases of fluxes, scalar fields and different localized sources, e.g. D-branes, anti D-branes and orientifold planes, in Type IIB with two-derivative gravity. We find that none of these ingredients satisfy the required condition, suggesting that one must consider additional terms in the gravity action.

One example of such additional terms is the set of higher-order curvature corrections. We perform an explicit calculation using an M-theory uplift, so as to simplify the form of the available fluxes. To study the effect of curvature corrections, we are forced to take an indirect route and instead consider a generalized correction to the action. We make an ansatz for the stress-energy tensor of the perturbative corrections, noting that the correction terms are built from curvatures. We explicitly find that positive curvature in the non-compact directions is only possible if curvature corrections are present and satisfy a certain inequality.

We further find that the fluxes in any dS solution must be non self-dual, as is consistent with broken supersymmetry. These fluxes, combined with D-brane instantons, are enough to fix both the complex structure and Kahler moduli, including the volume modulus. In addition to this, the instantons are one possible source for the curvature correction terms required to give positive curvature to the non-compact space. We do not propose a specific form for these corrections, and as the complete set of supported corrections is not yet known, further conclusions cannot be made at this point.

The structure of this paper is as follows: sections 2 and 3 rederive the Gibbons-Maldacena-Nunez No-Go theorem, and apply it to bulk fields (fluxes and scalar fields) and localized sources. In section 4, we set up our M-theory calculation, which we perform in section 5. We then examine the resulting equations of motion in section 6 and 7, and discuss the origin of higher order curvature corrections in section 8. We conclude our work with a short discussion of our results in section 9.

#### 2 Einstein gravity in D dimensions

Consider the following Einstein-Hilbert action coupled to matter in D spacetime dimensions:

$$S_{\text{total}} = \frac{1}{\mathcal{K}_D} \int d^D x \sqrt{-G_D} R_D + \int d^D x \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $\mathcal{K}_D$  is the *D*-dimensional Newton constant,  $R_D$  is the Ricci scalar in D dimensions,  $G_D$  is the determinant of the D-dimensional metric  $g_{MN}, M, N = 0, \ldots, D-1$ , and  $\mathcal{L}_{int}$  is the Lagrangian for the local or global fields that couple to gravity. It can contain global fluxes, scalar fields, local sources and terms that describe graviton self coupling. In the Einstein equations,  $\mathcal{L}_{int}$  enters through the stress-energy tensor

$$T_{MN} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-G_D}} \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}}{\delta g^{MN}}.$$
(2.2)

Variation of (2.1) with respect to  $g^{MN}$  gives the following Einstein equation:

$$R_{MN} = \frac{\mathcal{K}_D}{2} \left( T_{MN} - \frac{1}{D-2} g_{MN} T \right), \qquad (2.3)$$

where T is defined in the usual way, i.e.

$$T = g^{MN} T_{MN}. ag{2.4}$$

Now we will split the geometry into two manifolds:  $M_4$ , spanned by coordinates  $x^{\mu}, \mu = 0, \ldots, 3$  and a transverse space  $\mathcal{M}^{D-4}$ , spanned by coordinates  $x^m, m = 4, \ldots, D-1$ . We want  $M_4$  to describe our four dimensional non-compact space-time geometry and thus choose  $(x^0, x^1, x^2, x^3) = (t, x, y, z)$ , where t is timelike.  $\mathcal{M}^{D-4}$  can be either a compact or non-compact D-4 dimensional manifold, described by spacelike coordinates  $x^m$ . We will often refer to  $x^m$  and  $x^{\mu}$  as describing internal and external directions respectively. The line element is

$$ds_D^2 = ds_4^2 + ds_{D-4}^2 \equiv g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + g_{mn} dx^m dx^n.$$
(2.5)

Now if the D-dimensional manifold has a direct product topology  $M_4 \times \mathcal{M}^{D-4}$ , then the Ricci scalar for  $M_4$  is:

$$R_4 \equiv g^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu}.\tag{2.6}$$

If  $R_4 > 0$  we obtain a positive curvature spacetime, of which de Sitter space is one example, as is consistent with our universe. Alternatively, if  $R_4 < 0$ , we have Anti-de Sitter type geometry, which is not consistent with the current universe. Taking the trace of (2.3) in the  $\mu, \nu$  directions, we get

$$R_4 = -\frac{\mathcal{K}_D}{2(D-2)} \left[ T^{\mu}_{\mu}(6-D) + 4T^m_m \right].$$
(2.7)

Thus for a positively curved spacetime, i.e.  $R_4 > 0$ , we must satisfy the condition:

$$(D-6) T^{\mu}_{\mu} > 4T^{m}_{m}. \tag{2.8}$$

Whatever the content of the Lagrangian, we must satisfy (2.8) if we are to obtain a positively curved four-dimensional universe. If we do not have a direct product space, but rather a warped product space, then the manifold cannot be nicely separated:  $M_D \neq M_4 \times \mathcal{M}^{D-4}$ . However, we can still try to obtain an effective four-dimensional space at low energies. In this case, the transverse dimensions are not accessible, which is possible if the size of  $\mathcal{M}^{D-4}$ is small compared to the typical distance scale of interactions in  $M_4$ . We will separately address the case of a warped product space in the context of type IIB string theory in section 3.2, where we will again see that the condition (2.8) plays a crucial role.

We can now proceed to analyse different choices for the Lagrangian.

# 2.1 Fluxes and scalar fields coupled to gravity

We can reproduce the No-Go theorem of Gibbons [17, 18] and Maldacena-Nunez [19] by including fluxes in the Lagrangian. We consider the flux Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}^F = -\sqrt{-G_D} F_{a_1\dots a_q} F^{a_1\dots a_q}, \qquad (2.9)$$

where F is a q-form. The above Lagrangian leads to the following stress-energy tensor:

$$T_{MN}^F = -g_{MN}F^2 + 2qF_{Ma_2...a_q}F_N^{a_2...a_q}.$$
(2.10)

One can readily check that with the above form of the tensor, condition (2.8) will be satisfied if

$$4(1-q)F^2 > -F_{\mu a_2...a_q}F^{\mu a_2...a_q}q(D-2).$$
(2.11)

We will consider two types of fluxes: the first type with legs only along the internal directions and the second type with legs in  $M_4$ . Also note that the overall minus sign in the Lagrangian is chosen to give positive energy, i.e.  $T_{00} > 0$ . For the first type of flux  $a_i = m, n$  for all i and  $F^2 \ge 0$  with  $F_{\mu a_2 \dots a_q} F^{\mu a_2 \dots a_q} = 0$ . Thus we find that condition (2.8) is not satisfied for q > 1.

If q < 4 then all the legs will be along  $\mathcal{M}^{D-4}$  since otherwise the isometries of d = 4Minkowski or de Sitter like space will be broken. Thus when we consider the second type of flux which has legs in  $M_4$ , we will restrict to the case  $q \ge 4$ . For  $q \ge 4$  we will consider 4 out of q legs along  $M_4$  i.e. flux with legs in all the directions of  $M_4$  and the rest of its legs along the internal directions. With this condition on the fluxes, one obtains the following identities:

$$F^{2} = F_{a_{1}a_{2}...a_{q}}F^{a_{1}a_{2}...a_{q}} = C(q,4)F_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{4}a_{5}...a_{q}}F^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{4}a_{5}...a_{q}}$$
$$F_{\mu a_{2}...a_{q}}F^{\mu a_{2}...a_{q}} = C(q-1,3)F_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{4}a_{5}...a_{q}}F^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{4}a_{5}...a_{q}},$$
(2.12)

where the coefficient C(q, k) is defined by

$$C(q,k) \equiv \frac{q!}{(q-k)!k!}.$$
(2.13)

This in turn gives us

$$F_{\mu a_2 \dots a_q} F^{\mu a_2 \dots a_q} = -\frac{4}{q} F^2.$$
(2.14)

Using the above relation and the fact that  $F^2 < 0$ , condition (2.8) will be satisfied if and only if

$$D < q + 1. \tag{2.15}$$

Thus for D > q+1, we find that a q-form flux with legs in  $M_4$  does not give rise to positive curvature for  $M_4$ . Any flux that preserves the desired isometries of  $M_4$  can be written as a combination of the two types of fluxes described above. Thus, whatever the form of the flux, q-form flux for D > q+1 does not give rise to positive curvature for  $M_4$ , as was first demonstrated by Maldacena and Nunez [19].

Next we consider scalar fields. The most general interaction Lagrangian for a scalar field interacting with gravity is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}^{\phi} = -\sqrt{-G_D} \left( \partial_M \phi \partial^M \phi + V(\phi) \right).$$
(2.16)

Note that the overall minus sign is chosen so that when  $V(\phi) = 0$  (for example massless fields with only kinetic energy), we get positive energy, i.e.  $T_{00} > 0$ . The stress-energy tensor is given by

$$T_{MN}^{\phi} = -g_{MN} \left( \partial_K \phi \partial^K \phi + V(\phi) \right) + 2 \partial_M \phi \partial_N \phi.$$
(2.17)

Then with the stress-energy tensor given above, the only way (2.8) is satisfied is if and only if

$$\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi + V(\phi) > 0. \tag{2.18}$$

Now if we demand that the  $M_4$  is isotropic in space but dependent on time, we readily find  $\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu} = g^{tt}\partial_t\phi\partial_t\phi < 0$  since  $g^{tt} < 0$ . Thus if  $V(\phi) < 0$ ,  $M_4$  will not have positive curvature. In type IIB string theory, which will be the focus of our study, the scalar axiodilaton field  $\tau$  has no potential and thus will not aid in constructing positive curvature.

#### 2.2 Localized matter coupled to gravity

Another possibility for the interaction Lagrangian is that of localized matter. For a pdimensional object embedded in D-dimensional geometry, the most general Lagrangian that couples to the metric is the worldvolume Born-Infeld Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}}^{\text{BI}} = -T_p \sqrt{-\tilde{f}} \sqrt{g_{D-p-1}} \delta^{D-p-1} (x-\bar{x}), \qquad (2.19)$$

where  $\tilde{f}$  is the determinant of the metric  $\tilde{f}_{ab}$ , defined in the following way:

$$\widetilde{f}_{ab} = f_{ab} + \widetilde{F}_{ab}, \qquad f_{ab} = g_{MN} \frac{\partial X^M}{\partial \sigma^a} \frac{\partial X^N}{\partial \sigma^b} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{F}_{ab} = F_{ab} + B_{ab}.$$
(2.20)

Here  $T_p$  is the tension,  $F_{ab}$  is the worldvolume flux,  $B_{ab}$  is the pullback of the background magnetic flux,  $a, b = 1, \ldots, p+1$ , and  $\tilde{F}_{ab}$  is raised or lowered with the pullback metric  $f_{ab}$ . Also note that  $\delta^{D-p-1}(x-\bar{x})$  is the (D-p-1)-dimensional delta function,  $x = \bar{x}$  is the location of the p-dimensional object, and  $g_{D-p-1}$  is the determinant of the (D-p-1)dimensional metric such that we have the normalization

$$\int d^{D-p-1}x \sqrt{g_{D-p-1}} \delta^{D-p-1}(x-\bar{x}) = 1.$$
(2.21)

We have picked worldsheet parameters  $\sigma^a = x^a, a = 0, \dots, p-1$ .  $T_p$  can be considered as mass per unit length and thus it is typically positive.

If the Lagrangian is of the form (2.19) with positive mass term, i.e.  $T_p > 0$ , one obtains:

$$T_{\mu}^{\mu (\mathrm{BI})} = -T_{p} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-G_{D}}} \sqrt{-\tilde{f}} \sqrt{g_{D-p-1}} \tilde{f}_{ab} g^{\mu'\nu'} \frac{\delta \tilde{f}^{ab}}{\delta g^{\mu'\nu'}} \delta^{D-p-1}(x-\bar{x}) < 0$$
  
$$T_{m}^{m (\mathrm{BI})} = -T_{p} \frac{1}{\sqrt{-G_{D}}} \sqrt{-\tilde{f}} \sqrt{g_{D-p-1}} \tilde{f}_{ab} g^{m'n'} \frac{\delta \tilde{f}^{ab}}{\delta g^{m'n'}} \delta^{D-p-1}(x-\bar{x}) < 0.$$
(2.22)

Using (2.22) in (2.7) one readily sees that (2.8) is satisfied if D < 6. For D > 6 (2.8) is not automatically satisfied. In particular string theory gives D = 10 or 11 and thus we must have  $T_m^m$  non-vanishing to obtain our four-dimensional positive curvature universe.

String theory also allows negative tension objects, i.e.  $T_p < 0$ , and higher-derivative terms in the low-energy effective action for gravity. Then, using the form of the *localized* stress-energy tensor (2.22) and adding the contributions from the fluxes, scalar fields and higher derivative terms, it may be possible to satisfy the condition (2.8). We will discuss this possibility in sections 4 to 8.

# 3 dS in type IIB string theory with branes and planes

With a general understanding of gravitational coupling to fluxes and localized matter fields in D dimensions, we will now consider the specific case of low-energy type IIB superstring theory with the following action in Einstein frame:

$$S_{\text{total}} = S_{\text{SUGRA}} + S_{\text{loc}}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where

$$S_{\text{SUGRA}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_{10}^2} \int d^{10}x \sqrt{-G_{10}} \left( R - \frac{\partial_M \tau \partial^M \bar{\tau}}{2|\text{Im}\tau|^2} - \frac{|\hat{F}_5|^2}{4 \cdot 5!} - \frac{G_3 \cdot \bar{G}_3}{12\text{Im}\tau} \right) + \frac{1}{8i\kappa_{10}^2} \int \frac{C_4 \wedge G_3 \wedge \bar{G}_3}{\text{Im}\tau}.$$
(3.2)

Here  $\tau = C_0 + ie^{-\phi}$ ;  $G_{10} = \det g_{MN}, M, N = 0, \dots, 9$ ;  $g_{MN}$  is the metric in Einstein frame;  $G_3 = F_3 - \tau H_3$ ;  $F_3$  is the three-form RR flux,  $H_3$  is the three-form NS-NS flux, and  $\hat{F}_5$  is defined by

$$\hat{F}_5 = F_5 - \frac{1}{2}C_2 \wedge H_3 + \frac{1}{2}B_2 \wedge F_3.$$
(3.3)

For the localized action we will consider Dp-branes and orientifold planes in various dimensions. The action for a Dp-brane is given by

$$S_{Dp} = -\int d^{p+1}\sigma T_p \ e^{\frac{\phi(p+1)}{4}} \sqrt{-\tilde{f}} + \mu_p \int \left(C \wedge e^{\hat{F}}\right)_{p+1}.$$
(3.4)

Here  $\tilde{f}$  is the same as in (2.19) and  $C_{p+1}$  is the RR flux. As above,  $\tilde{F}_{ab}$  is raised or lowered with the pullback metric  $f_{ab}$ . Note that the sign of  $\mu_p$  determines whether we have a brane or an anti-brane. However both branes and anti-branes have positive tension  $T_p > 0$ .

On the other hand, for an orientifold, we have the action

$$S_{Op} = -\int d^{p+1}\sigma \ T_{Op} e^{\frac{\phi(p+1)}{4}} \ \sqrt{-f} + \mu_{Op} \int C_{p+1}, \tag{3.5}$$

where the orientifold has negative tension, i.e.  $T_{Op} < 0$ . Here  $\mu_p$  is the charge of the Opplane and we have the relation  $|T_{Op}| = e^{-\phi} |\mu_{Op}|$ . Also note that since the Op plane has negative charge, we have  $\mu_p = e^{\phi} T_{Op} = -e^{\phi} |T_{Op}|$ .

With the above localized action and the bulk supergravity action, we can write (3.1) in the form (2.1) with the interaction Lagrangian being<sup>1</sup>

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{bulk}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{Dp}} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{Op}}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{bulk}} = \sqrt{-G_{10}} \left( -\frac{\partial_M \tau \partial^M \bar{\tau}}{2 |\text{Im}\tau|^2} - \frac{|\hat{F}_5|^2}{4 \cdot 5!} - \frac{G_3 \cdot \bar{G}_3}{12 \text{Im}\tau} \right)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{Dp}} = -T_p e^{\frac{\phi(p+1)}{4}} \sqrt{-\tilde{f}} \sqrt{g_{D-p-1}} \delta^{10-p-1} (x - \bar{x})$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{Op}} = |T_{Op}| e^{\frac{\phi(p+1)}{4}} \sqrt{-f} \sqrt{g_{D-p-1}} \delta^{10-p-1} (x - \bar{x}).$$
(3.6)

In the above  $\mathcal{K}_{10}$  has been replaced by  $2\kappa_{10}^2$ . Using the above form of the Lagrangian we can readily obtain the stress-energy tensor (2.2) and check whether the constraint (2.8) is satisfied or not.

To evaluate the trace of the stress-energy tensor, we will restrict the form of the fields to ensure Poincaré invariance in the non-compact spacetime. This way even without solving for the on-shell values of the fluxes and metric, we can check whether the inequality (2.8) is satisfied. These conditions are the following:

• The fluxes  $H_3$  and  $F_3$  only have legs along  $\mathcal{M}^6$ , and  $\tau$  depends only on  $x^m$ , the coordinates of  $\mathcal{M}^6$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The topological term cannot enter the stress-energy tensor since  $\frac{\delta S_{\rm CS}}{\delta g^{MN}} = 0$  where  $S_{\rm CS} = \mu_p \int \left(C \wedge e^{\tilde{F}}\right)_{p+1}$  is the Chern-Simons action. Therefore we omit it in the Lagrangians here. For Dpbranes  $\hat{F}$  is not generally zero but Op-planes do not carry gauge fields, and have  $\hat{F}=0$ .

•  $\hat{F}_5$  will have legs in the  $x^{\mu}$  directions. Then by imposing self duality and Poincaré invariance, one obtains the general form

$$\hat{F}_5 = (1 + *_{10}) \, d\alpha \wedge dt \wedge dx \wedge dy \wedge dz, \tag{3.7}$$

where  $\alpha(x^M)$  is a scalar field which is a function of all coordinates  $x^M, M = 0, \dots, 9$ .

Having laid down the required conditions, we will now analyze the individual cases with branes, anti-branes and orientifold planes.

#### 3.1 Direct product space with branes and planes

We will first consider product spaces  $M_{10} = M_4 \times \mathcal{M}^6$  with branes and planes, where the transverse space  $\mathcal{M}^6$  can be either compact or non-compact. For p = 3, we have D3 or anti-D3 branes which fill up  $M_4$ . Thus the induced metric is

$$f_{ab} = g_{ab}, \text{ for } a, b = \mu, \nu$$
  

$$f_{ab} = 0 \quad \text{for } a, b \neq \mu, \nu.$$
(3.8)

Then we find<sup>2</sup>

$$T^{\mu}_{\mu \ (D3/\bar{D}3)} = -T_3 e^{\phi} \frac{\sqrt{-\tilde{f}\sqrt{g_6}}}{\sqrt{-G_{10}}} \left(4 + \hat{F}^{\mu}_{\mu}\right) \delta^6(x - \bar{x})$$
  
$$T^m_{m \ (D3/\bar{D}3)} = 0.$$
(3.9)

However, since the flux  $\hat{F}$  is anti-symmetric while the metric is symmetric,  $\hat{F}^{\mu}_{\mu} = 0$ . Thus *neither* the D3 nor the anti-D3 brane tensor satisfies the constraint (2.8).

The results for D3 and anti-D3 branes can easily be generalized to Dp and anti-Dp branes with p = 5, 7. For Poincaré invariance in the noncompact dimensions, we will fill up  $M_4$  with the Dp or anti-Dp branes and the remaining worldvolume will fill up some  $S^{p-3}$  cycle inside the transverse space  $\mathcal{M}^{D-p-1}$ . If  $x^m, x^n$  denote coordinates of the cycle  $S^{p-3}$ , then we have

$$f_{ab} = g_{ab}, \text{ for } a, b = \mu, \nu, m, n$$
  

$$f_{ab} = 0 \quad \text{for } a, b \neq \mu, \nu, m, n.$$
(3.10)

And we obtain

$$T^{\mu}_{\mu \ (Dp/\bar{Dp})} = -T_{p}e^{\frac{\phi(p+1)}{4}} \frac{\sqrt{-\tilde{f}\sqrt{g_{D-p-1}}}}{\sqrt{-G_{10}}} \left(4 + \hat{F}^{\mu}_{\mu}\right) \delta^{D-p-1}(x-\bar{x})$$

$$T^{m}_{m \ (Dp/\bar{Dp})} = -T_{p}e^{\frac{\phi(p+1)}{4}} \frac{\sqrt{-\tilde{f}\sqrt{g_{D-p-1}}}}{\sqrt{-G_{10}}} \left(p-3 + \hat{F}^{u}_{u}\right) \delta^{D-p-1}(x-\bar{x}).$$
(3.11)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Note that the upper indices here and elsewhere in this section have been raised with the metric  $g^{MN}$ , which is free of any warping in the case of a direct product space. For the warped compactifications studied in later sections, we will make the distinction between the warped metric and unwarped metric, where we introduce 'tilded' quantities,  $\tilde{A}^m$ , that are defined with respect to the unwarped metric.

Again, the worldvolume flux  $\hat{F}$  is anti-symmetric while the metric is symmetric. Hence  $\hat{F}^{\mu}_{\mu} = 0$ . Using the form above, we can readily see that *neither* the Dp nor anti Dp-brane stress-energy tensor satisfies the constraint (2.8) for p = 5, 7.

Now for the five-form flux: using self-duality, i.e.  $|\hat{F}_5|^2 = 0$ , one finds that the constraint (2.8) for the stress-energy tensor of the  $\hat{F}_5$  will be satisfied if and only if

$$\hat{F}_{\mu a b c d} \hat{F}^{\mu a b c d} > 0. \tag{3.12}$$

However, using the form of the flux (3.7), it is straightforward to see that  $\hat{F}_{\mu abcd}\hat{F}^{\mu abcd} < 0$ and thus the constraint (2.8) is not satisfied by the five-form flux. Alternatively,  $\hat{F}_5$  can be written as a sum of two types of fluxes as described in section (2.1), and again we arrive at the same conclusion.

Finally, using the condition that  $G_3$  has legs along  $\mathcal{M}^6$  and  $\tau$  only depends on  $x^m$ , one finds that the stress-energy tensors for  $G_3$  and  $\tau$  do not satisfy the constraint (2.8). Since stress-energy tensors arising from fluxes, scalar fields or localized Dp or anti-Dp branes individually do not satisfy the constraint (2.8), the total stress-energy tensor for the entire system consisting of all these ingredients will also not satisfy the constraint.

We can generalize the case for the localized Dp or anti-Dp branes to include smeared Dp or anti-Dp branes along the compact directions.<sup>3</sup> The only difference in the smeared case is that the delta function in the stress-energy tensor (2.22) will be replaced by some distribution i.e.  $\delta(x - \bar{x}) \rightarrow \Gamma(x^m) > 0$ . Smearing the branes in this fashion will allow one to compute the Ricci curvature on the brane, which will be a finite quantity. Again, since  $\Gamma(x^m) > 0$ , the stress-energy tensors will not obey the constraint (2.8). In summary, we conclude that local or non-local branes or anti-branes in the presence of global fields do not satisfy the condition (2.8).

The only remaining case is the Op-planes. Orientifold planes are the loci of fixed points of some discrete symmetry group, arising from a  $Z_2$  quotient of the theory combining worldsheet orientation reversal with an involution on the spacetime manifold [36]. The number of fixed points of this orientifolding then gives the number of orientifold planes, which fill all the noncompact dimensions. They have no gauge fields on their worldvolume, and have negative fractional charge and tension. As the planes are fixed points of a symmetry group, their location in the internal space is fixed and cannot be arbitrarily chosen. Thus the planes are essentially localized and cannot be thought of as smeared objects.

To construct an explicit gravity solution, we consider the localized action for the plane coupled with the bulk action. The tension of O3-planes taken to lie in  $M_4$  is given by

$$T^{\mu}_{\mu (O3)} = 4|T_{O3}|e^{\phi} \frac{\sqrt{-f}\sqrt{g_6}}{\sqrt{-G_{10}}} \delta^6(x-\bar{x})$$
  
$$T^m_{m (O3)} = 0, \qquad (3.13)$$

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ A discussion of smeared sources can be found in [38, 39] and [37] where localized solutions are constructed from smeared source solutions. Smearing is a way to incorporate the global nature of charge cancellation into the 10d equations of motion, which are inherently local. Not all smeared solutions correspond to solutions of the full 10d equations.

while for Op-planes with p = 5, 7, assuming as above that the spacetime directions  $M_4$  are filled, we find

$$T^{\mu}_{\mu \ (Op)} = 4|T_{Op}|e^{\frac{\phi(p+1)}{4}} \frac{\sqrt{-f\sqrt{g_{D-p-1}}}}{\sqrt{-G_{10}}} \delta^{D-p-1}(x-\bar{x})$$
  
$$T^{m}_{m \ (Op)} = |T_{Op}|e^{\frac{\phi(p+1)}{4}} \frac{\sqrt{-f\sqrt{g_{D-p-1}}}}{\sqrt{-G_{10}}} (p-3) \,\delta^{D-p-1}(x-\bar{x}).$$
(3.14)

Orientifolds have negative tension,  $T^{\mu}_{\mu}_{(Op)} > 0$ , so there is a possibility that the constraint (2.8) might be satisfied when O-planes are included. However we will see that this does not lead to positive curvature in four dimensions. To see this first consider the Einstein equations arising from variation of the action (3.1) with respect to the metric:

$$R_{\mu\nu} = -g_{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{G_3 \cdot \bar{G}_3}{48 \,\mathrm{Im}\tau} + \frac{\hat{F}_5^2}{8 \cdot 5!} \right] + \frac{\hat{F}_{\mu abcd} \hat{F}_{\nu}^{\ abcd}}{4 \cdot 4!} + \kappa_{10}^2 N_f \left( T_{\mu\nu}^{\mathrm{loc}} - \frac{1}{8} g_{\mu\nu} T^{\mathrm{loc}} \right),$$

$$R_{mn} = -g_{mn} \left[ \frac{G_3 \cdot \bar{G}_3}{48 \,\mathrm{Im}\tau} + \frac{\hat{F}_5^2}{8 \cdot 5!} \right] + \frac{\hat{F}_{mabcd} \hat{F}_n^{\ abcd}}{4 \cdot 4!} + \frac{G_m^{\ bc} \bar{G}_{nbc}}{4 \,\mathrm{Im}\tau} + \frac{\partial_m \tau \partial_n \tau}{2 \,|\mathrm{Im}\tau|^2} + \kappa_{10}^2 N_f \left( T_{mn}^{\mathrm{loc}} - \frac{1}{8} g_{mn} T^{\mathrm{loc}} \right),$$
(3.15)

where  $N_f$  is the number of localized objects contributing to  $S_{\text{loc}}$ . Since we are considering manifolds which have the product form  $M_{10} = M_4 \times \mathcal{M}^6$ , we have the following form for the metric:

$$ds^{2} = g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + g_{mn}(x^{m})dx^{m}dx^{n}.$$
(3.16)

With this metric ansatz, taking the trace of the first equation in (3.15) gives

$$R_4(x^{\mu}) = -\frac{G_3 \cdot \bar{G}_3}{12 \,\mathrm{Im}\tau} + \frac{\hat{F}_{\mu a b c d} \hat{F}^{\mu a b c d}}{4 \cdot 4!} + \frac{\kappa_{10}^2 N_f}{2} \left(T^{\mu \,\mathrm{loc}}_{\mu} - T^{m \,\mathrm{loc}}_{m}\right). \tag{3.17}$$

The left-hand side is independent of  $x^m$ , and hence the right-hand side should be as well. It follows that we can evaluate the right-hand side at *any* value of  $x^m$ , and so we are free to consider  $x^m$  away from the localized Op-planes, where the local O-plane stress-energy tensor gives zero. As we have already studied, the flux and local or smeared Dp or anti-Dp brane contributions to  $R_4$  are negative definite. Thus we obtain

$$R_4 \le 0. \tag{3.18}$$

Since we have a product space  $M_{10} = M_4 \times \mathcal{M}^6$ ,  $R_4$  is the Ricci scalar of  $M_4$ . Thus we conclude that neither Dp-branes, anti-Dp branes, nor Op-planes, in the presence of type IIB fluxes and scalar fields, give rise to positive curvature for  $M_4$ .

# 3.2 Warped product manifold with branes and planes

Now we consider the more general case where the ten-dimensional manifold is not a direct product space, but rather a warped product. We look for solutions to (3.15) which take

the following warped form:

$$ds^{2} = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + g_{mn}dx^{m}dx^{n} = e^{2A}\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + e^{-2A}\tilde{g}_{mn}dx^{m}dx^{n},$$
(3.19)

where  $A(x^m)$  is a scalar function,  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x^{\mu})$  is independent of internal coordinates  $x^m$  while  $\tilde{g}_{mn}(x^m)$  depends on  $x^m$ . Now, using the ansatz (3.19) for the metric, we get

$$R_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{R}_{\mu\nu} - \tilde{g}_{\mu\nu} e^{4A} \tilde{\nabla}^2 A, \qquad (3.20)$$

where the Laplacian is defined as

$$\widetilde{\nabla}^2 = \widetilde{g}^{mn} \partial_m \partial_n + \partial_m \widetilde{g}^{mn} \partial_n + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{g}^{mn} \widetilde{g}^{pq} \partial_n \widetilde{g}_{pq} \partial_m, \qquad (3.21)$$

and  $\tilde{R}_{\mu\nu}$  is the Ricci tensor for the metric  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . Since the geometry is not a direct product, there is no notion of a separate four-dimensional space at all energies. If the internal space is compact and small, then at low energies we effectively have a four-dimensional non-compact space  $\tilde{M}_4$  with metric  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}$ . Then the condition  $\tilde{R}_4 = \tilde{g}^{\mu\nu}\tilde{R}_{\mu\nu} > 0$  states that  $\tilde{M}_4$  has positive curvature. Thus, for a warped product geometry with metric of the form (3.19), we will restrict to the case where  $\mathcal{M}^6$  is compact and look for local and global fields in ten-dimensional type IIB theory that can give rise to  $\tilde{M}_4$  with positive curvature.

We take the trace of the first equation in (3.15) and use the relation (3.20) to get

$$\widetilde{\nabla}^{2} e^{4A} = \widetilde{R}_{4} + \frac{e^{2A} G_{3} \cdot \bar{G}_{3}}{12 \operatorname{Im}\tau} - \frac{e^{2A} \widehat{F}_{\mu a b c d} \widehat{F}^{\mu a b c d}}{4 \cdot 4!} + e^{-6A} \partial_{m} e^{4A} \partial^{m} e^{4A} + \frac{\kappa_{10}^{2}}{2} e^{2A} \Big( \sum_{i} \Big[ T^{m}_{m} {}_{(Op/\bar{O}p)i} - T^{\mu}_{\mu} {}_{(Op/\bar{O}p)i} \Big] + \sum_{j} \Big[ T^{m}_{m} {}_{(Dp/\bar{D}p)j} - T^{\mu}_{\mu} {}_{(Dp/\bar{D}p)j} \Big] \Big).$$

$$(3.22)$$

Here  $T^a_{a\ (Op/\bar{O}p)i}$  denotes the trace of the stress-energy tensor of the Op or anti-Op planes localized at  $\bar{x}_i$ , and similarly  $T^a_{a\ (Dp/\bar{D}p)j}$  denotes the trace of the stress-energy tensor of the Dp or anti-Dp branes at  $\bar{y}_j$ . The fluxes, branes, and planes, are related globally by charge cancellation, although we will not discuss the precise details here. We can integrate (3.22) over the compact internal manifold  $\widetilde{\mathcal{M}}^6$  (which has the metric  $\tilde{g}_{mn}$ ) to get

$$C = \tilde{V}_{6}\tilde{R}_{4} + \int d^{6}x \sqrt{\tilde{g_{6}}}\mathcal{I}_{\text{global}} + \int d^{6}x \sqrt{\tilde{g_{6}}} \left[ \frac{\kappa_{10}^{2}}{2} e^{2A} \left( \sum_{i} \left[ T_{m \ (Op/\bar{O}p)i}^{m} - T_{\mu \ (Op/\bar{O}p)i}^{\mu} \right] + \sum_{j} \left[ T_{m \ (Dp/\bar{D}p)j}^{m} - T_{\mu \ (Dp/\bar{D}p)j}^{\mu} \right] \right) \right],$$
(3.23)

where  $C = \int d^6 x \sqrt{\tilde{g_6}} \widetilde{\nabla}^2 e^{4A}$  is a constant and we have defined  $\mathcal{I}_{\text{global}}$  and  $\tilde{V}_6$  as

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{global}} \equiv \frac{e^{2A}G_3 \cdot \bar{G}_3}{12 \text{ Im}\tau} - \frac{e^{2A}\hat{F}_{\mu abcd}\hat{F}^{\mu abcd}}{4 \cdot 4!} + e^{-6A}\partial_m e^{4A}\partial^m e^{4A} \ge 0,$$
  
$$\tilde{V}_6 \equiv \int d^6x \sqrt{\tilde{g}_6} > 0.$$
(3.24)

If  $\mathcal{M}_6$  has no singularities or the warp factor  $e^{4A}$  is globally defined, then C = 0. However, in the presence of local sources classical gravity breaks down near the sources and this leads to physical singularities in the manifold. To resolve these singularities, we can smear the Dp-anti-Dp branes while Op and anti-Op planes are by definition localized objects. If we remove the O planes entirely and only keep smeared branes, then  $\mathcal{M}_6$  will be regular and C = 0. However as discussed in the previous section,  $T^m_{m (Dp/\bar{D}p)} - T^{\mu}_{\mu (Dp/\bar{D}p)} \geq 0$ , and thus we get

$$R_4 \le 0. \tag{3.25}$$

If we keep O planes, then there will be regions in the manifold with no classical gravity description. One can remove the singular points from the manifold leaving holes, but then  $C \neq 0^4$ . To obtain the exact value of C, one needs to know the metric near the singularity, but since classical gravity breaks down, we are unable to evaluate C. Thus, classical gravity is an incomplete description for a system containing O planes and we expect quantum corrections to resolve the classical singularity associated with the planes.

In summary, neither Dp nor anti-Dp branes with arbitrary worldvolume fluxes in the presence of type IIB fluxes and scalar fields result in positive curvature in four dimensions. For direct product geometries, inclusion of Op or anti Op planes also do not give rise to positive curvature. For warped product geometries arising in the presence of Op or anti-Op planes, classical two derivative gravity is insufficient and we must look for quantum corrections via higher-derivative gravity terms arising in string theory.

# 4 Curvature corrections and background solutions from M-theory

In the above sections we have argued that it is impossible to get a four-dimensional de Sitter spacetime in a ten-dimensional two-derivative gravity coupled to fluxes, scalar fields, D-branes and anti D-branes. With Orientifold-planes sourcing warped product manifolds, the classical gravity description is not sufficient to make a verdict one way or another. We need quantum corrections in the form of higher-curvature corrections to study the case with the Orientifold-planes. In fact string theory can have these corrections which, as we show below, could indeed help us to overcome the no-go theorem.

The analysis thus far has been done solely in the context of Type IIB string theory. However, the full set of quantum corrections in IIB is not known, and in addition there are many fields present which can complicate the analysis. To make the computations easier, we work in M-theory, where the bosonic field content is just the metric,  $g_{MN}$ , and the three-form,  $C_{MNP}$ , and make an ansatz for the form of the stress-energy tensor arising from any curvature corrections, given in (5.2). A  $T^2$  reduction of M-theory in the limit when the torus size goes to zero, will reproduce the answer for Type IIB theory.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We thank Juan Maldacena for pointing this out. After the removal of points, C becomes a boundary term. Additionally, removing the points means  $T_m^m{}_{(Op/\bar{O}p)i} - T_{\mu}^\mu{}_{(Op/\bar{O}p)i} = 0$  but the effect of O planes is captured by the fluxes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Earlier studies using EOMs but without invoking quantum corrections may be found in [41–44].

We begin by setting up the M-theory uplift of the IIB system we are interested in. The action for M-theory is given by

$$S = S_{\text{bulk}} + S_{\text{brane}} + S_{\text{corr}}, \tag{4.1}$$

where  $S_{\text{bulk}}$  is the standard supergravity action for M-theory with a 3-form flux C and corresponding field strength  $G_4$ ,  $S_{\text{brane}}$  is the contribution from M2-branes, and  $S_{\text{corr}}$  is a curvature correction to the action. The supergravity and brane actions are given by

$$S_{\text{bulk}} = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int \mathrm{d}^{11}x \,\sqrt{-g} \left[ R - \frac{1}{48} G^2 \right] - \frac{1}{12\kappa^2} \int C \wedge G \wedge G, \qquad (4.2)$$
$$S_{\text{brane}} = -\frac{T_2}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^3\sigma \sqrt{-\gamma} \left[ \gamma^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu X^M \partial_\nu X^N g_{MN} - 1 + \frac{1}{3!} \tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho} \partial_\mu X^M \partial_\nu X^N \partial_\rho X^P C_{MNP} \right], \qquad (4.3)$$

where  $T_2$  is the tension of the M2-brane,  $X^M$  denotes the worldsheet coordinates of the brane,  $\gamma^{\mu\nu}$  is the induced metric on the brane, and we have assumed a minimal coupling of the brane to the fluxes.

The corrections to the action are of the form  $\mathbb{R}^n$  or  $\mathbb{G}^n$  (or a combination thereof)<sup>6</sup> and can come from several sources: instanton corrections, tree level  $\alpha'$  corrections, and loop corrections. We delay a proper discussion of the  $\mathbb{R}^n$  terms to section 8. To study the effect of these corrections, we first assume that  $S_{\text{corr}}$  has two types of contributions: those that depend on the metric and are therefore non-topological, which we denote  $\hat{S}_{\text{ntop}}$ , and those that are topological and do not depend explicitly on the metric,  $\hat{S}_{\text{top}}$ . In other words we have

$$S_{\rm corr} = \hat{S}_{\rm ntop} + \hat{S}_{\rm top}, \tag{4.4}$$

where  $\hat{S}_{top}$  can depend on the topological classes constructed out of the curvature form R.

Both sets of corrections depend on the curvatures  $R_{MNPQ}$  and  $G_{MNPQ}$  of the metric  $g_{MN}$  and the three-form field  $C_{MNP}$  respectively, and we brand them curvature corrections. The contributions to  $\hat{S}_{\text{ntop}}$  and  $\hat{S}_{\text{top}}$  at lowest order in  $\alpha'$  are known (see [49] for example, as well as section 8) and using these we can express  $\hat{S}_{\text{ntop}}$  and  $\hat{S}_{\text{top}}$  as

$$\hat{S}_{\text{top}} = -T_2 \int C \wedge X_8 + \mathcal{S}_{\text{top}}(R, G)$$
$$\hat{S}_{\text{ntop}} = \frac{T_2}{9.2^{13} \cdot (2\pi)^4} \int d^{11}x \sqrt{-g} \left(J_0 - \frac{1}{2}E_8\right) + \mathcal{S}_{\text{ntop}}(R, G), \qquad (4.5)$$

where  $X_8$  is the curvature correction eight-form built completely with curvature two-form, such that  $C \wedge X_8$  is a gravitational Chern-Simons term required to cancel the anomaly on the fivebrane worldvolume [51]; and  $J_0$  and  $E_8$  are given in [49]. The additional contributions  $S_{\text{ntop}}$  and  $S_{\text{top}}$  are functions of both the curvatures (R, G). Some details of  $S_{\text{ntop}}$  and  $S_{\text{top}}$ have been worked out and they are given in [45–47] and [48] respectively. We will give a more complete discussion in section 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>See for example [45–47] for more detail, up to four-point amplitudes, on this.

In section 5 we will make an ansatz for the variation of the correction terms with respect to the metric, which acts as an effective stress-energy tensor  $T_{\rm corr}^{MN}$ , rather than deal with the action of the correction terms directly. In other words, we will make an ansatz for

$$T_{\rm corr}^{MN} \equiv -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_{\rm corr}}{\delta g_{MN}} \Big|_{g,C} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta \hat{S}_{\rm ntop}}{\delta g_{MN}} \Big|_{g,C} , \qquad (4.6)$$

where the subscript denotes a given choice of the metric and the three-form flux.

From the action (4.1), we obtain three key equations which govern the evolution of the system. The first is the Einstein equation,<sup>7</sup>

$$R^{MN} - \frac{1}{2}g^{MN}R = T^{MN}, (4.7)$$

where  $T^{MN}$  is the total stress-energy tensor coming from fluxes, brane sources and quantum or curvature corrections, and which we compute in section 5. The second is the flux equation [49],

$$d *_{11} G = \frac{1}{2} G \wedge G + 2\kappa^2 \left( T_2 X_8 + *_{11} J \right) + S_G, \tag{4.8}$$

where J is the source term coming from  $n_3$  M2-branes,  $*_{11}$  is the Hodge star with respect to the warped metric unless mentioned otherwise, and  $S_G$  is the contribution from  $S_{\text{ntop}}$ and  $S_{\text{top}}$  in (4.5) that we will discuss later.

The third equation is the M2-brane equation,

$$\Box X^{P} + \gamma^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} X^{M} \partial_{\nu} X^{N} \Gamma^{P_{MN}} = \frac{1}{3!} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \partial_{\mu} X^{M} \partial_{\nu} X^{N} \partial_{\rho} X^{Q} G^{P}{}_{MNQ}, \qquad (4.9)$$

where  $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho} = \sqrt{-\gamma} \tilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho}$ . The source term at a spacetime position x is related to the spacetime position X of the brane, and is given by

$$J^{PQR}(x) = \frac{2\kappa^2 n_3 T_2}{\sqrt{-g}} \int d^3 \sigma \sqrt{-\gamma} \tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho} \partial_\mu X^P \partial_\nu X^Q \partial_\rho X^R \delta^{11}(x-X).$$
(4.10)

We would like to find a solution to these equations that is conformally de Sitter when brought to IIB, such that the IIB metric can schematically be written as

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{t_{c}^{2}} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + ds_{\text{internal}}^{2}, \qquad (4.11)$$

where the time coordinate  $t_c$  is conformal time, usually denoted  $\tau$  or  $\eta$ , which in the de Sitter space is related to physical time by

$$t_c \sim e^{-t_{\rm phys}}.\tag{4.12}$$

It follows that the infinite future  $(t_{\text{phys}} \to \infty)$  is given by the limit  $t_c \to 0$ , as is the case during inflation. From this point onward we will drop the subscript c, and denote conformal time as t.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>We are assuming that the volume of the internal fourfold is large so that an equation like (5.14) can be used to describe the metric there. This brings us to the issue of moduli stabilization, which will be discussed towards the end of section 7.

We make the following ansatz for the metric in M theory:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{(\Lambda(t)\sqrt{h})^{4/3}} (-dt^{2} + \eta^{ij}dz_{i}dz_{j}) + h^{1/3} \left[ \frac{\tilde{g}_{mn}dy^{m}dy^{n}}{(\Lambda(t))^{1/3}} + (\Lambda(t))^{2/3}|dz|^{2} \right]$$
  
$$\equiv e^{2A(y,t)} (-dt^{2} + \eta^{ij}dz_{i}dz_{j}) + e^{2B(y,t)}\tilde{g}_{mn}dy^{m}dy^{n} + e^{2C(y,t)}|dz|^{2}, \qquad (4.13)$$

where i, j = 1, 2,  $\tilde{g}_{mn}$  is the *unwarped* metric, A, B and C are warp factors that can be written in terms of  $\Lambda(t)$  and  $h(y^m)$ , which we leave unspecified for the moment, and

$$dz \equiv dx_3 + i dx_{11}, \tag{4.14}$$

so that the only time dependence in the system comes from  $\Lambda(t)$ . Specifically, the internal eight-dimensional manifold only depends on time via the warp factor  $\Lambda(t)$  as we saw earlier, i.e.

$$ds_8^2 = \frac{\tilde{g}_{mn} dy^m dy^n}{\Lambda^{1/3}(t)} + \Lambda^{2/3}(t) |dz|^2.$$
(4.15)

This ansatz is chosen as the M-theory uplift for the solution we want to obtain in Type IIB, i.e. by shrinking the torus specified by coordinates  $(z, \bar{z})$  or  $(x_3, x_{11})$  to zero size one may recover type IIB theory. It is a generalization of the ansatz considered in [49], and describes a system of M2-branes moving towards orbifold singularities of the torus fibration of the fourfold (where the D7 fluxes are localized). This was developed as a first step towards an M theory uplift of D3/D7 [50].

The IIB metric that follows from dimensional reduction of the M theory metric (4.13) is given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{\Lambda(t)\sqrt{h}}(-dt^{2} + \eta^{ij}dz_{i}dz_{j} + dx_{3}^{2}) + \sqrt{h}\tilde{g}_{mn}dy^{m}dy^{n}, \qquad (4.16)$$

so that, taking  $\Lambda(t) = \Lambda |t|^2$  (taking the absolute value to avoid any imaginary warping in the M-theory metric), we obtain

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{\Lambda t^{2}\sqrt{h}}(-dt^{2} + \eta^{ij}dz_{i}dz_{j} + dx_{3}^{2}) + \sqrt{h}\tilde{g}_{mn}dy^{m}dy^{n}.$$
(4.17)

For this to be a dS solution, we demand that  $\Lambda$  be strictly positive. We also require a suitably well-behaved functional form for h(y), to avoid any pathology. However, for our purposes, we will leave its functional form to be completely general.

Turning now to the flux equations, the equation for the G-fluxes can be rewritten as:

$$D_M \left( G^{MPQR} \right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \tilde{\epsilon}^{PQRM_1...M_8} \left[ \frac{1}{2 \cdot (4!)^2} G_{M_1...M_4} G_{M_5...M_8} + \frac{2\kappa^2 T_2}{8!} (X_8)_{M_1...M_8} \right] + \frac{2\kappa^2 T_2 n_3}{\sqrt{-g}} \int d^3 \sigma \tilde{\epsilon}^{\mu\nu\rho} \partial_\mu X^P \partial_\nu X^Q \partial_\rho X^R \delta^{11} (x - X) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \left( \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{ntop}}}{\delta C_{PQR}} + \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{top}}}{\delta C_{PQR}} \right).$$

$$\tag{4.18}$$

The above equation is in general hard to deal with because of the quantum corrections etc. However the the G-fluxes are related to the membrane motion via the membrane EOM. In

the limit where the membrane motion is very slow,  $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ , which is the pull-back metric, is simply equal to the spacetime metric given in (4.13). This implies

$$G_{m\mu\nu\rho} = \partial_m \left( \frac{\widetilde{\epsilon}_{\mu\nu\rho}}{h\Lambda(t)^2} \right), \tag{4.19}$$

which shows that the spacetime part of the three-form field  $C_{\mu\nu\rho}$  should be time-dependent to maintain a metric of the form (4.13) with a membrane fixed at a point on the eightdimensional internal space. However to solve all the background equations we need more flux components. Let us then switch on the following three additional *G*-fluxes:

$$G_{mnpq} \equiv 4\partial_{[m}C_{npq]}, \quad G_{mnpa} \equiv 3\partial_{[m}C_{npa]}, \quad G_{mnab} \equiv 2\partial_{[m}C_{nab]}. \tag{4.20}$$

To add some flexibility to the equations we seek to solve, and since we generically expect a mix of time-dependent and time-independent fluxes, we assume that the components  $G_{mnpa}$  are time independent, whereas all other fluxes depend on the internal coordinates  $y^m$ , as well as on (a, b) — i.e. on  $(x_3, x_{11})$  — and the time t.

#### 5 The Einstein equations

In what follows we solve the Einstein equations (5.14) by including the general form of the stress-energy tensor  $T_{MN}$  in section 5. This way we will be able to tabulate all the equations for the metric components satisfying (4.13), in section 6. Subsequently, in section 7, we study the flux equations (4.8) and resulting consistency conditions.

#### 5.1 General form of the stress-energy tensor

Like the action, the stress-energy tensor has 3 contributions:

$$T^{MN} = T_G^{MN} + T_{\rm corr}^{MN} + T_B^{MN}, ag{5.1}$$

where G is for G-flux, corr is for correction, and B is for brane. As discussed in section 4, we will study the effect of higher-order curvature corrections to the action by making an ansatz for the resulting  $T_{MN}^{\text{corr}}$ . Since our goal is to study solutions that are de Sitter in the non-compact dimensions, we are primarily concerned with tracking the time dependence of each component of the action and resulting Einstein equation. In line with this, we choose an ansatz for  $T_{MN}^{\text{corr}}$  that allows us to keep track of the time dependence. The stress-energy contributions are then given by

$$T_{G}^{MN} = \frac{1}{12} \left[ G^{MPQR} G_{PQR}^{N} - \frac{1}{8} g^{MN} G^{PQRS} G_{PQRS} \right]$$
(5.2)

$$T_B^{MN}(x) = -\frac{\kappa^2 T_2 n_3}{\sqrt{-g}} \int d^3 \sigma \sqrt{-\gamma} \gamma^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu X^M \partial_\nu X^N \delta^{11}(x-x_b)$$
(5.3)

$$T_{\rm corr}^{MN} = \frac{-2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta \hat{S}_{\rm ntop}}{\delta g_{MN}} \Big|_{g,C} \equiv \sum_{i} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i + 1/3} \mathcal{C}^{MN, i},$$
(5.4)

where again  $x_b$  is the spacetime position of the brane (which is generically time dependent), and we have defined

$$\mathcal{C}_{MN}^{i} = g_{MN} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{i} - 2 \frac{\delta \mathcal{C}_{i}}{\delta g^{MN}}.$$
(5.5)

In the following sections we will attempt to search for solutions, by separately examining the mn, ab, and  $\mu\nu$  components of the Einstein equation. Note that the scalars  $\tilde{C}_i$  are defined in terms of the *unwarped metric*, such that the only dependence on warp factors in  $C_{MN}$  comes from the explicit factors of the warped metric  $g_{MN}$ .

# 5.2 Internal (m, n) components

We will start with the internal (m, n) components along the six-dimensional base. Two set of equations need to be solved now: the Einstein equation and the flux equation. For the Einstein equation we need the Einstein tensor from the M-theory metric (4.13). The Ricci tensor  $R_{mn}$  is given by

$$R_{mn} = \tilde{R}_{mn} + 3 \left[ 2\partial_{(m}A\partial_{n)}B - \partial_{m}A\partial_{n}A - \tilde{g}_{mn}\partial_{k}A\partial^{k}B \right] + 4 \left[ \partial_{m}B\partial_{n}B - \tilde{g}_{mn}\partial_{k}B\partial^{k}B \right] -3D_{(m}\partial_{n)}A - 2D_{(m}\partial_{n)}C + 2 \left[ 2\partial_{(m}C\partial_{n)}B - \partial_{m}C\partial_{n}C - \tilde{g}_{mn}\partial_{k}C\partial^{k}B \right] -4D_{(m}\partial_{n)}B - \tilde{g}_{mn}\Box B + e^{2(B-A)} \left[ \ddot{B} + \dot{A}\dot{B} + 6\dot{B}^{2} + 2\dot{C}\dot{B} \right] \tilde{g}_{mn},$$
(5.6)

and the warped curvature scalar R is given by

$$R = -e^{-2B} \left[ 10\Box B + 6\Box A + 4\Box C + 20\partial_m B\partial^m B \right] - 3e^{-2B} \left[ 4\partial_m A\partial^m A + 8\partial_m A\partial^m B \right] -2e^{-2B} \left[ 3\partial_m C\partial^m C + 8\partial_m B\partial^m C + 6\partial_m A\partial^m C \right] + e^{-2B} \tilde{R} +2e^{-2A} \left[ 6\ddot{B} + 2\ddot{A} + 2\ddot{C} + 21\dot{B}^2 + 6\dot{A}\dot{B} + 12\dot{C}\dot{B} + 2\dot{A}\dot{C} + \dot{A}^2 + 3\dot{C}^2 \right],$$
(5.7)

where remaining raising and lowering operations are done by the unwarped internal metric  $\tilde{g}_{mn}$ . The Einstein tensor  $G_{mn}$  is found to be

$$G_{mn} = \tilde{G}_{mn} - \frac{\partial_m h \partial_n h}{2h^2} + \tilde{g}_{mn} \left[ \frac{\partial_k h \partial^k h}{4h^2} - 6\Lambda h \right], \qquad (5.8)$$

where  $\Lambda$  is the coefficient of  $t^2$  in  $\Lambda(t)$ , and hence the above expression is independent of time.

To study the stress-energy tensor from the G-fluxes we have to first express the various components of the G-fluxes  $G_{MNPQ}$  in terms of their *unwarped* components  $\tilde{G}_{MNPQ}$  as:

$$\begin{aligned}
 G^{012m} &= \widetilde{G}^{012m} [\Lambda(t)]^{13/3} h^{5/3}, & G^{012a} &= \widetilde{G}^{012a} [\Lambda(t)]^{10/3} h^{5/3} \\
 G^{0mna} &= \widetilde{G}^{0mna} [\Lambda(t)]^{4/3} h^{-1/3}, & G^{0mab} &= \widetilde{G}^{0mab} [\Lambda(t)]^{1/3} h^{-1/3} \\
 G^{mnpa} &= \widetilde{G}^{mnpa} [\Lambda(t)]^{1/3} h^{-4/3}, & G^{mnab} &= \widetilde{G}^{mnab} [\Lambda(t)]^{-2/3} h^{-4/3} \\
 G^{0mnp} &= \widetilde{G}^{0mnp} [\Lambda(t)]^{7/3} h^{-1/3}, & G^{mnpq} &= \widetilde{G}^{mnpq} [\Lambda(t)]^{4/3} h^{-4/3} & (5.9)
 \end{aligned}$$

where what we have done here is to simply isolate the warp factor dependences of  $G^{MNPQ}$ and express its components in terms of  $\tilde{G}^{MNPQ}$ . This also means that  $G_{MNPQ} \equiv \tilde{G}_{MNPQ}$  by definition. We can also isolate the warp factor from the metric and write the determinant as

det 
$$g = -[\Lambda(t)]^{-14/3} h^{2/3} \det \widetilde{g}.$$
 (5.10)

The stress-energy tensor is easily expressed in the language of the unwarped G-fluxes (5.9) and the determinant (5.10):

$$\mathcal{T}_{mn}^{(G)} = \tilde{g}_{mn} \frac{\partial_k h \partial^k h}{4h^2} - \frac{\partial_m h \partial_n h}{2h^2} + \frac{1}{4h} \left[ \widetilde{G}_{mlka} \widetilde{G}_n^{\ lka} - \frac{1}{6} \widetilde{g}_{mn} \widetilde{G}_{pkla} \widetilde{G}^{pkla} \right]$$
(5.11)  
+ 
$$\frac{\Lambda(t)}{12h} \left[ \widetilde{G}_{mlkr} \widetilde{G}_n^{\ lkr} - \frac{1}{8} \widetilde{g}_{mn} \widetilde{G}_{pklr} \widetilde{G}^{pklr} \right] + \frac{1}{4h\Lambda(t)} \left[ \widetilde{G}_{mlab} \widetilde{G}_n^{\ lab} - \frac{1}{4} \widetilde{g}_{mn} \widetilde{G}_{pkab} \widetilde{G}^{pkab} \right].$$

The stress-energy tensor from the membrane (M2 brane) will not contribute however. This is because the stress-energy tensor, given by [49],

$$\mathcal{T}_{mn}^{(B)} = -\kappa^2 T_2 n_3 \tilde{g}_{pm} \tilde{g}_{qn} \frac{h^{1/3} [\Lambda(t)]^{5/3}}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}}} \int d^3 \sigma \sqrt{-\gamma} \gamma^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu X^p \partial_\nu X^q \delta^{11}(x-X), \quad (5.12)$$

where  $\tilde{g}$  is the determinant of the metric in the m, n directions, vanishes in the limit where the membrane motion is very slow. The only other contribution will be from the correction terms, which, using  $g_{mn} = e^{2B}\tilde{g}_{mn}$ , gives

$$\mathcal{T}_{mn}^{\text{corr}} = h^{1/3} \sum_{i} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{mn}^i.$$
(5.13)

The equation that we need to solve now is

$$G_{mn} = \mathcal{T}_{mn}^{(G)} + \mathcal{T}_{mn}^{\text{corr}}.$$
(5.14)

This can be split into a time-independent piece,

$$\tilde{G}_{mn} - \tilde{g}_{mn} 6\Lambda h = \frac{1}{4h} \left[ \widetilde{G}_{mlka} \widetilde{G}_n^{\ lka} - \frac{1}{6} \tilde{g}_{mn} \widetilde{G}_{pkla} \widetilde{G}^{pkla} \right] + h^{1/3} \sum_{\alpha_i = 0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{mn}^i, \qquad (5.15)$$

where we made use of our assumption that the  $G_{mnpa}$  are time independent, and a timedependent piece given by

$$\frac{\Lambda(t)}{12h} \left[ \widetilde{G}_{mpqr} \widetilde{G}_n^{pqr} - \frac{1}{8} \widetilde{g}_{mn} \widetilde{G}_{pqrs} \widetilde{G}^{pqrs} \right] + \frac{1}{4h\Lambda(t)} \left[ \widetilde{G}_{mpab} \widetilde{G}_n^{pab} - \frac{1}{4} \widetilde{g}_{mn} \widetilde{G}_{pqab} \widetilde{G}^{pqab} \right] \\
+ h^{1/3} \sum_{\alpha_i \neq 0} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^i_{mn} = 0.$$
(5.16)

Note that at this stage the only possible way  $G_{mnpr}$  and  $G_{mnab}$  can also be time independent and yet still satisfy (6.15) is if the  $\alpha_i$  are allowed to take the values

$$\alpha_i = (1, -1, 0, 0, \dots 0). \tag{5.17}$$

It is not clear we can have this condition for our case, and so we will assume that the only time-independent components of the G-fluxes are  $G_{mnpa}$ .

# 5.3 Internal (a, b) components

The Ricci tensor for the (a, b), i.e. the  $x^3$  and  $x^{11}$  components, is given by

$$R_{ab} = -\delta_{ab}e^{2(C-B)} \left[\Box C + 3\partial_m C \partial^m A + 4\partial_m C \partial^m B + 2\partial_m C \partial^m C\right] + \delta_{ab}e^{2(C-A)} \left[\ddot{C} + \dot{A}\dot{C} + 6\dot{C}\dot{B} + 2\dot{C}^2\right], \qquad (5.18)$$

which can be used to compute the Einstein tensor  $G_{ab}$ . For the M-theory metric (4.13),  $G_{ab}$  is given by

$$G_{ab} = \delta_{ab}\Lambda(t) \left[ -\frac{\tilde{R}}{2} - 9h\Lambda + \frac{\tilde{g}^{pk}\partial_p h\partial_k h}{4h^2} \right], \qquad (5.19)$$

where we note that there is an overall time dependence given by  $\Lambda(t)$ . The stress-energy tensor due to the fluxes is given by

$$\mathcal{T}_{ab}^{(G)} = \frac{\Lambda(t)}{12h} \left[ \widetilde{G}_{amnp} \widetilde{G}_{b}^{mnp} - \delta_{ab} \frac{\widetilde{G}_{mnpc} \widetilde{G}^{mnpc}}{2} + \delta_{ab} \frac{3\widetilde{g}^{mp} \partial_{m} h \partial_{p} h}{h} \right] \\ + \frac{1}{4h} \left[ \widetilde{G}_{acmn} \widetilde{G}_{b}^{cmn} - \frac{1}{4} \delta_{ab} \widetilde{G}_{mncd} \widetilde{G}^{mncd} \right] - \delta_{ab} \frac{[\Lambda(t)]^{2}}{4 \cdot 4! h} \widetilde{G}_{mnpq} \widetilde{G}^{mnpq}.$$
(5.20)

The interesting thing about the above formula is that the time dependence of the first term (involving  $\tilde{G}_{mnpa}$ ) is exactly the same as the time dependence of the  $G_{ab}$ . This means that the  $\tilde{G}_{mnpa}$  components can remain time independent, as we had earlier. The correction term contribution to the stress-energy tensor for the (a, b) directions is

$$\mathcal{T}_{ab}^{\text{corr}} = h^{1/3} \sum_{i} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i + 1} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{ab}^i.$$
(5.21)

As before, we can write the resulting Einstein equation as a time-independent expression (where we collect the terms linear in  $\Lambda(t)$ ):

$$\left(\frac{\tilde{R}}{2} + 9h\Lambda\right)\delta_{ab} + \frac{1}{12h}\left[\tilde{G}_{amnp}\tilde{G}_{b}^{\ mnp} - \delta_{ab}\frac{\tilde{G}_{mnpc}\tilde{G}^{mnpc}}{2}\right] + h^{1/3}\sum_{\alpha_{i}=0}\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{ab}^{i} = 0, \quad (5.22)$$

and a time-dependent expression:

$$\frac{1}{4h} \left[ \tilde{G}_{acmn} \tilde{G}_{b}^{\ cmn} - \frac{1}{4} \delta_{ab} \tilde{G}_{mncd} \tilde{G}^{mncd} \right] - \delta_{ab} \frac{[\Lambda(t)]^2}{4 \cdot 4! h} \tilde{G}_{mnpq} \tilde{G}^{mnpq} + h^{1/3} \sum_{\alpha_i \neq 0} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i + 1} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}^i_{ab} = 0.$$
(5.23)

Once again, we must assume  $G_{mnpq}$  and  $G_{mnab}$  are time dependent in such a way as to solve (5.23). Thus the conclusion of this section is perfectly consistent with the conclusions of the previous section.

# 5.4 Spacetime $(t, z_1, z_2)$ components

We now study the spacetime components. The curvature tensors  $R_{00}$  and  $R_{ij}$  are given by

$$R_{ij} = -\eta_{ij}e^{2A-2B} \left[\Box A + 3\partial_m A \partial^m A + 4\partial_m A \partial^m B + 2\partial_m A \partial^m C\right]$$

$$+ \left(\ddot{A} + 6\dot{A}\dot{B} + \dot{A}^2 + 2\dot{A}\dot{C}\right)\eta_{ij}$$
(5.24)

$$R_{00} = e^{2A - 2B} \left[\Box A + 3\partial_m A \partial^m A + 4\partial_m A \partial^m B + 2\partial_m A \partial^m C\right]$$
(5.25)

$$-\left[2\ddot{A}+6(\ddot{B}+\dot{B}^{2}-\dot{A}\dot{B})+2(\ddot{C}+\dot{C}^{2}-\dot{A}\dot{C})\right],$$
(5.26)

using which the Einstein tensor  $G_{\mu\nu}$  is found to be

$$G_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{\Lambda(t)} \left[ \frac{\tilde{R}}{2h} + \frac{\tilde{g}^{mk}\partial_k h\partial_m h}{4h^3} - \frac{\Box h}{2h^2} + 3\Lambda \right],$$
(5.27)

where we see that the overall time dependence is provided by  $1/\Lambda(t)$ . The above equation should be balanced by the stress-energy tensor from the *G*-flux and corrections, as well as from the membrane. The latter term is there because the almost static membrane *does* contribute to the stress-energy tensor along the spacetime directions.

The stress-energy tensor from the G-flux is given by

$$\mathcal{T}^{(G)}_{\mu\nu} = -\eta_{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{(\partial h)^2}{4\Lambda(t)h^3} + \frac{\widetilde{G}_{mnpa}\widetilde{G}^{mnpa}}{4!\Lambda(t)h^2} + \frac{\widetilde{G}_{mnpq}\widetilde{G}^{mnpq}}{4\cdot 4!h^2} + \frac{\widetilde{G}_{mnab}\widetilde{G}^{mnab}}{16h^2[\Lambda(t)]^2} \right].$$
(5.28)

As expected,  $\mathcal{T}^{(G)}_{\mu\nu}$  has a piece that scales as  $1/\Lambda(t)$ , so we should be able to maintain the time independence of the  $G_{mnpa}$  components.

The stress-energy tensor coming from the correction terms can be found to be

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{\rm corr} = h^{-2/3} \sum_{i} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i - 1} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\mu\nu}^i.$$
(5.29)

Finally we will need the stress-energy tensor for the static membrane. The EOM of the worldvolume metric gives us, in the case where the brane is moving very slowly,

$$\gamma_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu} X^{M} \partial_{\nu} X^{N} g_{MN} \approx g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{[\Lambda(t)\sqrt{h}]^{4/3}}.$$
(5.30)

Using this we can show that the stress-energy tensor is given by

$$\mathcal{T}^{(B)}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\kappa^2 T_2 n_3}{h^2 \Lambda(t) \sqrt{\tilde{g}}} \delta^8(x - X) \eta_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (5.31)$$

which is again suppressed by  $1/\Lambda(t)$ , confirming the time independence of the components  $G_{mnpa}$ .

Again, we can split the full Einstein equation into a time-independent part:

$$\left(\frac{\tilde{R}}{2h} - \frac{\Box h}{2h^2} + 3\Lambda\right) = \frac{\tilde{G}_{mnpa}\tilde{G}^{mnpa}}{4!h^2} + \frac{\kappa^2 T_2 n_3}{h^2 \sqrt{\tilde{g}}} \delta^8(x - X) - \frac{1}{3h^{2/3}} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\mu}^{\mu,i} \quad (5.32)$$

where we have traced over the  $\mu, \nu$  components using  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ , and a time-dependent part:

$$\eta_{\mu\nu} \left[ \frac{\widetilde{G}_{mnpq}\widetilde{G}^{mnpq}}{4 \cdot 4!h^2} + \frac{\widetilde{G}_{mnab}\widetilde{G}^{mnab}}{4!h^2\Lambda(t)^2} \right] - \frac{1}{h^{2/3}} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}\neq 0} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i - 1} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^i_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(5.33)

# 6 Analysis of the EOMs and consistency conditions

We have now split the Einstein equations into 6 equations, 3 of which are time dependent, and 3 of which are time independent. To deduce the properties of these equations, it suffices to look at the traced over form of each. The traced-over time independent equation for the spacetime  $(\mu, \nu)$  components is

$$\left(\frac{\tilde{R}}{2h} - \frac{\Box h}{2h^2} + 3\Lambda\right) = \frac{\tilde{G}_{mnpa}\tilde{G}^{mnpa}}{4!h^2} + \frac{\kappa^2 n_3 T_2 \delta^8(x - X)}{h^2 \sqrt{\tilde{g}}} - \frac{1}{3h^{2/3}} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\mu}^{\mu, i}, \quad (6.1)$$

whereas for the internal (m, n) components, it is

$$36h\Lambda + h^{1/3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\ i} = \tilde{G}_m^m.$$
(6.2)

Note that the flux contribution in (5.15) is traceless, so it doesn't appear in the above equation. Finally, for the internal (a, b) components the trace equation is

$$\frac{\tilde{R}}{2} + 9h\Lambda + \frac{h^{1/3}}{2} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{C}_a^{a,\ i} = 0, \tag{6.3}$$

where again the flux contributions from (5.22) do not enter. The last two equations, (6.2) and (6.3), are quite similar and can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\ i} = -\frac{2}{h^{1/3}} (\tilde{R} + 18h\Lambda), \tag{6.4}$$

$$\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a^{a,\ i} = -\frac{1}{h^{1/3}} (\tilde{R} + 18h\Lambda), \tag{6.5}$$

from which we can read off that

$$\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\,i} = 2 \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a^{a,\,i}.$$
(6.6)

Using (6.2) and (6.3) we can also write

$$\tilde{R} = -18h\Lambda - h^{1/3} \left( \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{C}_a^{a,\ i} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{C}_m^{m,\ i} \right),$$
(6.7)

which allows us to rewrite the constraint (6.1) as

$$-\Box h = \frac{\tilde{G}_{mnpa}\tilde{G}^{mnpa}}{12} + 12h^2\Lambda + \frac{2\kappa^2 n_3 T_2 \delta^8(x-X)}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}}} + h^{4/3} \left( \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a{}^{a,\ i} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m{}^{m,\ i} - \frac{2}{3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_\mu{}^{\mu,\ i} \right).$$
(6.8)

There are three further equations that arise from (5.22) in the limit when  $a \neq b$ , a = b = 3and a = b = 11 respectively. These are

$$\widetilde{G}_{amnp}\widetilde{G}_{b}^{mnp} + 12h^{4/3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \widetilde{C}_{ab}^{i} = 0, 
\widetilde{G}_{3mnp}\widetilde{G}_{3}^{mnp} - \widetilde{G}_{11,mnp}\widetilde{G}_{11}^{mnp} = 24h^{4/3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \left(\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{C}_{a}^{a,i} - \widetilde{C}_{33}^{i}\right), 
\widetilde{G}_{3mnp}\widetilde{G}_{3}^{mnp} - \widetilde{G}_{11,mnp}\widetilde{G}_{11}^{mnp} = -24h^{4/3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \left(\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{C}_{a}^{a,i} - \widetilde{C}_{11,11}^{i}\right).$$
(6.9)

If we now consider integrating equation (6.8) over the compact eight-dimensional manifold, we see that the l.h.s. integrates to zero as the warp factor h is a globally defined quantity, and we get

$$\frac{1}{12} \int d^8 x \sqrt{\tilde{g}} \ \tilde{G}_{mnpa} \tilde{G}^{mnpa} + 12\Lambda \int d^8 x \sqrt{\tilde{g}} \ h^2 + 2\kappa^2 T_2 n_3 + \int d^8 x \sqrt{\tilde{g}} h^{4/3} \left( \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a^{a,\ i} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\ i} - \frac{2}{3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_\mu^{\mu,\ i} \right) = 0.$$
(6.10)

In the absence of fluxes and higher-curvature corrections the above equation implies that the simplest solution will be  $\Lambda = 0$ , i.e. a four-dimensional Minkowski space. This conclusion *cannot* be changed by the insertions of the type IIB Orientifold-planes precisely because they become smooth geometries<sup>8</sup> in M-theory and therefore *cannot* change the sign of  $\Lambda$  in the absence of any corrections. In the presence of fluxes, and in the presence or absence of the higher-curvature corrections, it is not difficult to see that the  $\Lambda < 0$  solution is favored. However to allow a  $\Lambda > 0$  solution from (6.10), it is *at least* necessary to have the higher curvature corrections in (6.10) add up to some positive value, a  $\Lambda > 0$  solution will again be impossible.

This means that for a  $\Lambda > 0$  solution to exist, the curvature terms in (6.10) should integrate to a negative definite value. This conclusion should be valid for all possible choices of the warp factor h and the internal metric  $\tilde{g}_{mn}$ . In particular, for certain choices of the fluxes the warp factor may be localized over a small patch on the internal manifold (for example like a M2-brane solution). Then the integral condition on the higher-curvature terms will have to be realized at every such patch on the internal manifold. On a small patch, since there is no local transformation that can make the metric flat everywhere,  $\tilde{C}_M^{M, i}$ can be viewed as the expectation or the average value on the patch, or more explicitly:

$$\langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_M^{M, i} \rangle \equiv \int d^8 x \sqrt{\tilde{g}} \ h^{4/3} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_M^{M, i}.$$
(6.11)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The "twisted sector" states appear precisely from smoothing the geometry in M-theory. The higher curvature term  $C \wedge X_8$  provides the gravitational couplings on the corresponding type IIB Orientifoldplanes as will be briefly discussed above (7.5). The rest of the curvature terms from  $S_{top}$  and  $\hat{S}_{ntop}$  in (4.5) contribute to the higher curvature terms on the Orientifold-planes beyond the Chern-Simons terms of (7.5) and (7.4).

In other words, for a solution to exist we must have the following condition

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a^{a,\,i} \rangle + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\,i} \rangle - \frac{2}{3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_\mu^{\mu,\,i} \rangle < 0.$$
(6.12)

Since  $T_{mn}^{\text{corr}} \sim \tilde{C}_{mn}^{i}$ , this equation is almost analogous to (2.8) but expressed in the language of curvature corrections.<sup>9</sup> This makes sense because only these corrections will allow us to overcome the Gibbons-Maldacena-Nunez [17–19] no-go theorem. Under this assumption, (6.12) gives non-trivial constraints on the curvature corrections required to have a four-dimensional de Sitter solution in Type IIB theory.

The curvature terms may be further constrained if we look at the time-dependent equations. These equations are

$$\frac{\widetilde{G}_{mnpq}\widetilde{G}^{mnpq}}{4} + \frac{\widetilde{G}_{mnab}\widetilde{G}^{mnab}}{\Lambda(t)^2} = 8h^{4/3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}\neq 0} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i - 1} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\mu, i}_{\mu}, \qquad (6.13)$$

$$\widetilde{G}_{acmn}\widetilde{G}^{acmn} - \frac{[\Lambda(t)]^2}{6}\widetilde{G}_{mnpq}\widetilde{G}^{mnpq} = -8h^{4/3}\sum_{\alpha_i\neq 0} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i+1}\widetilde{C}_a^{a,i}, \quad (6.14)$$

$$\frac{\Lambda(t)}{6}\widetilde{G}_{pqrs}\widetilde{G}^{pqrs} - \frac{1}{\Lambda(t)}\widetilde{G}_{mpab}\widetilde{G}^{mpab} = -8h^{4/3}\sum_{\alpha_i\neq 0} [\Lambda(t)]^{\alpha_i}\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\ i}.$$
(6.15)

From the first equation above, and noting that both the terms on the l.h.s. are positive definite, we deduce one new condition on the corrections by integrating over the eight-dimensional manifold:

$$\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}\neq 0} a^{\alpha_i} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\mu, i}_{\mu} \rangle > 0, \tag{6.16}$$

where  $a \equiv \Lambda(t_a)$  for a fixed  $t_a$ . In fact (6.16) will be an infinite set of constraints because, due to its time dependence,  $a^{\alpha_i}$  can take any (positive) values including arbitrary fractional numbers. Note that

$$\langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\mu, i}_{\mu} \rangle > 0 \tag{6.17}$$

will always solve (6.16) if the  $\alpha_i$  appearing in (6.16) are not equal to each other. However a generic statement cannot be made unless we actually solve all the EOMs. In view of that we will only demand (6.16) as our constraint equation. The other two equations involve relative signs and therefore tell us nothing about the signs of  $\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}\neq 0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a^{a, i}$  or  $\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}\neq 0} \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m, i}$ .

In total we have the following conditions on the form of the corrections:

$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a^{a,\,i} \rangle + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\,i} \rangle < \frac{2}{3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_\mu^{\mu,\,i} \rangle, \tag{6.18}$$

$$\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}\neq 0} a^{\alpha_i} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\mu, i}_{\mu} \rangle > 0.$$
(6.19)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>One subtlety however is that this constraint arises from the Einstein equations of an 11-dimensional M theory, in which  $\mu$  runs from 0 to 2, while in (2.8) it runs from 0 to 3, so the numerical factors are not expected to be the same in both expressions. We would have to redo the calculation in IIB to get the same expression. However in both cases the condition is that the four-dimensional curvature upon compactification be positive.

#### 7 Analysis of the background fluxes and additional consistency checks

The above set of conclusions was derived by analyzing the Einstein's equations alone. The next question is whether any conclusions are altered when the equations of motion for the G-fluxes are taken into account. Before moving ahead with the exact flux equations, we will do a more careful analysis of the background fluxes to see how the type IIB fluxes should be viewed from our choices of the M-theory fluxes. Imagine we rewrite the flux components in M-theory as [50]:

$$\widetilde{G} = G_{\mu\nu\rho m} dx^{\mu} \wedge dx^{\nu} \wedge dx^{\rho} \wedge dx^{m} + \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnqa} dx^{m} \wedge dx^{n} \wedge dx^{q} \wedge dx^{a} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} F^{i} \wedge \Omega^{i},$$
(7.1)

where we have taken the time-dependent components  $\tilde{G}_{mnpq}$  and  $\tilde{G}_{mnab}$  to be localized around certain singular points on the eight-dimensional internal space and we have decomposed  $\tilde{G}_{mnpa}$  into a *delocalized* and a *localized* piece as

$$\widetilde{G}_{mnpa} = \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa} + \widetilde{G}_{mnpa}^{\text{loc}}.$$
(7.2)

In (7.1), the localized pieces are contained in the last term, where the sum is over the points at which the F-theory torus degenerates, the  $\Omega^i$  are the normalizable harmonic forms located at these points, and the  $F^i$  represent the gauge fields on the resulting D7-branes at these points in IIB, such that only the  $F^i$  are functions of time.<sup>10</sup> Then it turns out that the delocalized piece  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa}$  gives rise to the type IIB three-forms in the following way:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa}dx^m \wedge dx^n \wedge dx^p \wedge dx^a \equiv 2(H_3)_{mnp}dx^m \wedge dx^n \wedge dx^p \wedge dx^3 +2(F_3)_{mnp}dx^m \wedge dx^n \wedge dx^p \wedge dx^{11},$$
(7.3)

where  $H_3$  and  $F_3$  are the NS and RR three-forms of type IIB theory respectively, while the localized fluxes should appear as gauge-fields on the type IIB seven-branes. A straightforward decomposition immediately gives us:

$$\int G \wedge *_{11}G \rightarrow \int d^{10}x \sqrt{g_{10}} \left[ \frac{1}{g_B^2} \left( |H_3|^2 + |F_5|^2 \right) + |F_3|^2 \right] \\ + \sum_{i=1}^N \int d^8 \sigma \ F^i \wedge *_B F^i,$$

$$\int C \wedge G \wedge G \rightarrow \int C_4 \wedge H_3 \wedge F_3 + \sum_{i=1}^N \int d^8 \sigma \ C_4 \wedge F^i \wedge F^i, \qquad (7.4)$$

where for the first relation, the first three terms appear in the type IIB bulk and the last term collects the interactions on the D7-brane worldvolume. We have also assumed that

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$ A discussion of these issues is also given in [53] and [54]. Note that the existence of these points do not mean that the eight-dimensional manifold is singular.

the self-duality of  $F_5$  is imposed via the EOM, so that the action is explicitly non-selfdual. The five-form piece comes from the spacetime part of the *G*-flux and the three-form fluxes come from the components  $G_{mnqa}$ . For the second relation, the first term is the bulk term and the second one is the seven-brane Chern-Simons term. The  $C \wedge X_8$  term gives rise to the couplings on the D7-branes and O7-planes and possibly some contributions to the bulk interactions. For example we expect some parts of  $C \wedge X_8$  to reproduce

$$a_1 \int_{D7} C_{\rm RR} \wedge \sqrt{\hat{A}(R)} + a_2 \int_{O7} C_{\rm RR} \wedge \sqrt{H(R/4)}, \qquad (7.5)$$

where  $\hat{A}(R)$  and H(R) are the corresponding A-roof genus and Hirzebrusch polynomial respectively. We have also used the orthogonality condition for the components of  $\Omega^i$  to get the interactions of the seven-brane worldvolume gauge fields. Note that this analysis only gives the abelian part of the gauge group (i.e the Cartan subalgebra), which could be extended to include a non-abelian gauge group by including M2-branes wrapping vanishing 2-cycles of the fourfold.

Once the structure of the fluxes is laid out, the physics away from the singular points will be captured by the delocalized fluxes only. The *G*-flux EOM (4.18) then gives us the following equation for the warp factor h:<sup>11</sup>

$$-\Box h = \frac{1}{12} \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa}(*_8 \widetilde{\mathcal{G}})^{mnpa} + \frac{2\kappa^2 T_2}{8! \sqrt{\tilde{g}}} (X_8)_{M_1 \dots M_8} \widetilde{\epsilon}^{M_1 \dots M_8}$$

$$+ \frac{2\kappa^2 T_2 n_3}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}}} \delta^8 (x - X) - \frac{2\kappa^2 T_2 \bar{n}_3}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}}} \delta^8 (x - Y) + \alpha_1 \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{ntop}}}{\delta \widetilde{C}_{012}} + \alpha_2 \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{top}}}{\delta \widetilde{C}_{012}},$$

$$(7.6)$$

where  $*_8$  is the Hodge star with respect to the unwarped metric unless mentioned otherwise,  $\alpha_i$  are coefficients that can be derived from (4.18), and we take only the delocalized flux components. Equation (7.6) can be compared to the Einstein equation:

$$-\Box h = \frac{\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa}\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}^{mnpa}}{12} + 12h^2\Lambda + \frac{2\kappa^2 n_3 T_2 \delta^8(x-X)}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}}} + \frac{2\kappa^2 \bar{n}_3 T_2 \delta^8(x-Y)}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}}} + h^{4/3} \left( \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_a^{a,\ i} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\ i} - \frac{2}{3} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_\mu^{\mu,\ i} \right),$$
(7.7)

where we have re-expressed (6.8) in terms of the delocalized fluxes instead of the total fluxes. The factors  $(n_3, \bar{n}_3)$  denote the number of M2 and anti-M2 branes located at (X, Y) respectively and  $X_8$  is defined in the usual way [55] such that

$$\int X_8 = -\frac{1}{4!(2\pi)^4}\chi_4,\tag{7.8}$$

where the integral is over the eight-dimensional manifold with Euler characteristic  $\chi_4$ , which could in general take any sign.

<sup>11</sup>We have defined the covariant derivative  $D_q$  in the following way:  $D_q G^{qmnp} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_q (\sqrt{-g} G^{qmnp}).$ 

Comparing (7.7) and (7.6) we get the following consistency relation which should be compared with the consistency condition that we had from (6.10):

$$\frac{1}{12}\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa}\left[\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}^{mnpa} - (*_{8}\widetilde{\mathcal{G}})^{mnpa}\right] + 12\Lambda h^{2} + \frac{4\kappa^{2}T_{2}\bar{n}_{3}}{\sqrt{\tilde{g}}}\delta^{8}(x-Y) - \alpha_{1}\frac{\delta\mathcal{S}_{\text{ntop}}}{\delta\widetilde{C}_{012}} - \alpha_{2}\frac{\delta\mathcal{S}_{\text{top}}}{\delta\widetilde{C}_{012}} \\
+ h^{4/3}\left(\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\{\alpha_{i}\}=0}\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{a}^{a,i} + \frac{1}{4}\sum_{\{\alpha_{i}\}=0}\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{m}^{m,i} - \frac{2}{3}\sum_{\{\alpha_{i}\}=0}\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_{\mu}^{\mu,i}\right) - \frac{2\kappa^{2}T_{2}}{8!\sqrt{\tilde{g}}}(X_{8})_{M_{1}\dots M_{8}}\widetilde{\epsilon}^{M_{1}\dots M_{8}} = 0.$$
(7.9)

Firstly note that in the presence of curvature corrections and positive cosmological constant  $\Lambda$  it is in general *not* possible to maintain the self-duality of the *G*-fluxes. This may be more obvious if we re-express (6.9) using (7.3) as

$$|H_3|^2 - |F_3|^2 = \frac{h^{4/3}}{12} \sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \left( \tilde{\mathcal{C}}^i_{11} - \tilde{\mathcal{C}}^i_{33} \right),$$
(7.10)

which may not be consistent with  $H_3 = -*_6 F_3$  and  $F_3 = *_6 H_3$ , where  $*_6$  is the sixdimensional Hodge star measured with respect to the unwarped metric. In other words:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}^{mnpa} - (*_8 \widetilde{\mathcal{G}})^{mnpa} \neq 0, \tag{7.11}$$

meaning that supersymmetry should be broken to allow for a positive cosmological constant. One may also note that the contribution from the anti-M2 branes in (7.9) allows the self-duality of the G-fluxes to be broken even for vanishing cosmological constant  $\Lambda$ and vanishing higher-order corrections. This means supersymmetry can be broken in *flat* space by the anti-M2 branes.

The above relation can in fact be extended to the *full* G-fluxes, i.e. including both the localized and the delocalized pieces. To show this we make use of another component of the G-flux equation, finding

$$\Lambda(t)D_{q}\widetilde{G}^{qmnp} + D_{a}\widetilde{G}^{amnp} = \frac{\partial_{q}h}{h} \left[ \Lambda(t)\widetilde{G}^{qmnp} - \frac{1}{12} \left( \ast_{8}\widetilde{G} \right)^{qmnp} \right]$$

$$+ \frac{\partial_{a}h}{h} \left[ \widetilde{G}^{amnp} - \frac{1}{12} \left( \ast_{8}\widetilde{G} \right)^{amnp} \right] + \beta_{1} \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{ntop}}}{\delta \widetilde{C}_{mnp}} + \beta_{2} \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{top}}}{\delta \widetilde{C}_{mnp}},$$

$$(7.12)$$

which is expressed in terms of the total fluxes and is again consistent with (7.11). In deriving the above equation we have assumed

$$(X_8)_{012M_1\dots M_5} \approx 0. \tag{7.13}$$

Note that for the delocalized flux components  $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa}$ , away from the singular points, (7.12) simplifies to

$$D_{a}\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}^{amnp} = \frac{\partial_{a}h}{h} \left[ \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}^{amnp} - \frac{1}{12} \left( \ast_{8}\widetilde{\mathcal{G}} \right)^{amnp} \right] + \left[ \beta_{1} \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{ntop}}}{\delta \widetilde{C}_{mnp}} + \beta_{2} \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{top}}}{\delta \widetilde{C}_{mnp}} \right]_{\widetilde{G}_{mnpa}=0}^{G_{mnpq}=0}$$
(7.14)

meaning that the delocalized flux components are not covariantly constant. Another consequence of the above equation is that the  $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa}$  components will continue to remain time independent provided

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[ \beta_1 \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{ntop}}}{\delta \widetilde{C}_{mnp}} + \beta_2 \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{top}}}{\delta \widetilde{C}_{mnp}} \right]_{\widetilde{G}_{mnpa}=0}^{\widetilde{G}_{mnpq}=0} = 0,$$
(7.15)

giving us another constraint on the curvature corrections in the theory, although solutions should also exist for cases which violate this constraint and hence require a more general analysis that includes a time dependence for  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa}$ .

Now looking at (7.11) and (7.6) we conclude that a four-fold with *negative* Euler characteristic  $\chi_4$  may easily accommodate fluxes of the kind (7.11) and simultaneously account for the supersymmetry breaking, although this is not a necessary condition for a solution to exist. In other words, without loss of generality, we can demand

$$\frac{1}{4} \int \sqrt{\tilde{g}} \ \widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnpa} \left( \ast_8 \widetilde{\mathcal{G}} \right)^{mnpa} = \int H_3 \wedge F_3 \ < 0, \tag{7.16}$$

which in turn can be made consistent with the first equation in (6.9), namely

$$\int d^{6}x \sqrt{\tilde{g}} \ (H_{3})_{mnp} (F_{3})^{mnp} = -3 \sum_{\alpha_{i}=0} \langle \mathcal{C}_{3,11}^{i} \rangle,$$
(7.17)

provided  $\sum_{\alpha_i=0} \langle C_{3,11}^i \rangle > 0$ . This could be taken as another constraint on the curvature corrections, which applies in the case that  $\chi_4 < 0$ . A similar constraint would apply for the case  $\chi_4 > 0$ .

Yet another possible class of solutions are those with vanishing Euler characteristic  $\chi_4 = 0$ . These solutions could correspond to an internal M-theory eight manifold that is an elliptical fibration of a Calabi-Yau threefold, since the Euler characteristic of the eight manifold is related to the Chern classes of the base by [94]:

$$\chi_4 = 12 \int_B c_1 (c_2 + 30c_1^2). \tag{7.18}$$

If the base manifold is Calabi-Yau, then  $c_1 = 0$ , and hence  $\chi_4$  vanishes. This, in conjunction with the condition  $\tilde{R} = 0$ , leads to its own set of solutions, with the modified conditions:

$$\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_m^{m,\,i} \rangle_{\chi=0} < 0, \tag{7.19}$$

$$\sum_{\{\alpha_i\}=0} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{C}}_a^{a,\ i} \rangle_{\chi=0} < 0.$$
(7.20)

As an interesting corollary, in the *absence* of any curvature corrections and due to (6.2), (6.3) or (6.4), it is *impossible* to get a four-dimensional de Sitter spacetime if the internal six-dimensional base of the M-theory eight-fold is a Calabi-Yau manifold because

$$\ddot{R} = -18h\Lambda. \tag{7.21}$$

We now make a few observations. Note that to stabilize all the complex structure moduli, we will have to switch on G-fluxes in the internal manifold. The  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnqa}$  components are the ones that will do the required job for us. However due to the background constraint (7.11) we cannot allow supersymmetric fluxes. In fact we can extend (7.11), by incorporating the localized fluxes in (7.6) and (7.7), to *full* G-fluxes  $G_{mnpa}, G_{mnpq}$  and  $G_{mnab}$ . This means, in addition to (7.11) we will have another relation

$$G^{\rm loc} - *_4 G^{\rm loc} \neq 0, \tag{7.22}$$

where  $*_4$  is the Hodge star on a four-dimensional surface  $\Sigma_4$  inside the six-dimensional base of our eight-manifold. Since the localized fluxes are related to the gauge fields on the seven-branes wrapping  $\Sigma_4$  in type IIB theory, this immediately implies that the gauge fluxes (both the abelian and the non-abelian pieces) will create a D-term potential satisfying the background constraint relations (7.9) and (6.10).

In addition to that, the decomposition (7.2) switches on an FI term from the  $H_3 = dB_2$ of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{G}}_{mnqa}$  and from the  $F_2 = dA$  of  $\widetilde{G}_{mnqa}^{\text{loc}}$ , proportional to

$$\int_{\Sigma_4} \mathcal{F}^- \wedge \mathcal{F}^- \tag{7.23}$$

where  $\mathcal{F}^- \equiv \mathcal{F} - *_4 \mathcal{F}$  and we have defined  $\mathcal{F} \equiv F_2 - B_2$ .

Since the background supersymmetry is broken by the *G*-fluxes, the F-term is explicitly non-zero allowing us to switch on a non-zero D-term in the presence of higher-curvature quantum corrections. The fact that the F-term and D-term are related to each other can be inferred from the decomposition (7.2) where *both* three-form and gauge fluxes in type IIB are sourced by M-theory G-fluxes. This way we take care of the issues raised by [90, 91].<sup>12</sup> Note that in the *absence* of the quantum corrections, this wouldn't have been possible.

Finally, we need to switch on D-brane instantons that would help us stabilize all the Kähler structure moduli, including the volume moduli. As mentioned earlier, we have to make sure that the internal manifold is stabilized at large volume so that the dynamics can be captured by the set of EOMs described above. In the presence of the D-brane instantons higher-curvature terms are automatically generated (some aspect of this will be discussed in section 8). These curvature terms are the last pieces of the link required to satisfy the consistency relations (6.10) or (7.9).

Thus both the fluxes and the curvature corrections are therefore *necessary* consequences of stabilized moduli in this set-up. As such they could lead to a positive cosmological constant solution, and a natural realization of D-term uplifting [34].

# 8 A discussion on the curvature corrections

In this section we discuss in more detail the possible origins for the higher-order curvature  $corrections^{13}$  we have argued might allow for construction of de Sitter vacua in IIB compactifications. While our calculations were done in M-theory, it is interesting to first look

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$ It will be interesting to compare our results with the ones in [92, 93] regarding D-term uplifting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>We will restrict ourselves to  $\mathbb{R}^n$  corrections as these have been studied in more detail than the  $\mathbb{G}^n$  corrections. For an analysis of  $\mathbb{G}^n$  corrections, the readers may refer to [45–48].

at the corrections that can appear in type IIB string theory. These terms can be sourced by tree- and loop-level *n*-graviton scattering amplitudes, or equivalently loop corrections to the underlying  $\sigma$ -model, and are also induced by D-instanton corrections. The general form of these corrections is given by (adopting the notation of [95], combined with [84] but with the substitution s = (m + 6)/4:

$$(\alpha')^{n-m+1} t_{m,n} Z_m^{(w,w')} D^{2m} R^n \tag{8.1}$$

where  $t_{m,n}D^{2m}R^n$  is the contraction of 2m covariant derivatives and n Riemann tensors with a tensor  $t_{m,n}$ . The coefficient  $Z_m^{w,w'}$  is an eigenfunction of the Laplace operator on the fundamental domain of  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ , with modular weight (w,w'). This coefficient can be written as an Eisenstein series [84], and is necessary for  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$  invariance of the corrections to the action.

The lowest-order correction can be calculated from 4-graviton scattering; see for example [85] in type II and [86] in Heterotic, which induces a  $D^0 R^4$  correction at both tree level (at order  $(\alpha')^3$ ) and at the one-loop level. In the calculation by Gross and Witten [86], this led to a gaussian path integral that can alternatively be written as a contraction of four copies of the Riemann tensor with two copies of a rank-8 tensor denoted  $t_8$ . This allows one to write the correction as (equations 10 and 11 of Gross and Witten):

$$\int d\psi_L^{\alpha} d\psi_R^{\beta} \exp\left[\bar{\psi}_L^{\alpha} \Gamma^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha\beta} \psi_L^{\beta} \bar{\psi}_R^{\alpha'} \Gamma^{\sigma\tau}_{\alpha'\beta'} \psi_R^{\beta'} R_{\mu\nu\sigma\tau}\right], \qquad (8.2)$$

or in terms of the  $t_8$  tensor:

$$t^{\mu_1\mu_2\dots\mu_8}t^{\nu_1\nu_2\dots\nu_8}R_{\mu_1\mu_2\nu_1\nu_2}R_{\mu_3\mu_4\nu_3\nu_4}R_{\mu_5\mu_6\nu_5\nu_6}R_{\mu_7\mu_8\nu_7\nu_8},\tag{8.3}$$

with the  $t_8$  tensor defined by

$$\sqrt{\det\Gamma^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}} = t^{\mu_1\mu_2...\mu_8}F_{\mu_1\mu_2}F_{\mu_3\mu_4}\dots F_{\mu_7\mu_8}.$$
(8.4)

The above correction is often written in the literature as simply  $t_8t_8R^4$ . Another approach to calculating this correction is to consider loop corrections in the sigma model (see for example [87]), where an *n*-loop effect will lead to an  $R^n$  correction that is order  $(\alpha')^n$  in the corresponding string theory. Collecting all the terms at order  $R^4$  yields a correction of the form:

$$\left(\frac{1}{8}\epsilon_{10}\epsilon_{10} - t_8 t_8\right) R^4,\tag{8.5}$$

where  $\epsilon_{10}$  is the rank-10 totally anti-symmetric tensor .

One might also wonder if there are  $R^2$  or  $R^3$  terms. The sigma model analysis does not produce these terms, which would indicate that type II theories are protected from  $\alpha'^2$ and  $\alpha^3$  corrections, as shown in the sigma model in [88]. This was also done in the context of type I, II and heterotic string theory in [89], which confirmed the result that  $R^2$  and  $R^3$ corrections do not appear. One can also check that  $R^5$  terms do not arise, and in fact the next corrections coming from the tree-level graviton scattering are  $D^2R^4$ ,  $D^2R^5$ , and  $R^6$ , all at order  $(\alpha')^5$  (see table I of [95]). At the loop level, there has been recent work [96–98] showing that perhaps string loop corrections at order  $g_s^2(\alpha')^2$  can become important in a certain class of compactifications (dubbed the Large Volume Scenario).

Another contribution comes from calculating the graviton scattering amplitude in a D-instanton background, as was done by Green and Guterperle [99], which gives an extra contribution to  $Z_m^{(w,w')}$  that is necessary for the correction to be  $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$  invariant. The coefficient for the  $D^0R^4$  correction has modular weight (w,w') = (0,0), and is given by (equation (1.15) of [84] with s = 3/2, or in our notation, m = 0):

$$Z_{0} = 2\zeta(3)C^{(0)^{3/2}} + 8\zeta(3)C^{(0)^{-1/2}}$$

$$+4\pi \sum_{k \neq 0} \mu(k, 3/2) \exp\left[-2\pi(|k|e^{-\phi} - ike^{-\phi})\right] \sqrt{|k|} \left(1 + \frac{3}{16\pi|k|C^{(0)}} + \dots\right),$$
(8.6)

where  $C^{(0)}$  and  $\phi$  are the axion and dilaton. The first term on the r.h.s. is the tree-level correction, while the second term is the 1-loop correction. The set of terms on the second line is an infinite set of D-instanton corrections, with the function  $\mu(k, 3/2)$  defined as in appendix A of [84].

The picture in M-theory is slightly simpler, as there is only one curvature superinvariant. A review of the corrections to M-theory supergravity, as well as the supersymmetrization, can be found in [100], while the detailed derivations can be found in [101] and [102]. A feature of the M-theory picture that is fairly well understood is the necessity of an additional Chern-Simons term to cancel the 5-brane anomaly, via anomaly inflow. This term takes the form

$$C \wedge X_8, \tag{8.7}$$

where  $X_8$  is built out of  $R^4$ . As this term includes a factor of the M-theory 3-form flux, it will contribute to the equation of motion of the fluxes.

A key feature of these corrections is that the form of the contraction conspires to choose only the Weyl part of the Riemann tensor, such that the corrections vanish on manifolds with vanishing Weyl tensor. This was shown explicitly by Banks and Green in [103], where they considered  $AdS_5 \times S^5$ . This is great news for AdS/CFT, since the correspondence is protected from loop corrections. However, it makes the search for scenarios where corrections may be important a non-trivial exercise. One possibility for finding non-negligible corrections is to consider Calabi-Yau manifolds, and indeed this is the internal manifold used in the 4D effective picture of these corrections in Kahler Uplifting [35, 40]. However, this introduces a new difficulty: many Calabi-Yau manifolds can not be given an explicit metric — for example the explicit realization of Kahler uplifting in [40] is done on  $\mathbb{CP}^{11169}$ .

#### 9 Conclusion

This paper has been a close examination of de Sitter solutions in Type IIB string theory, from the perspective of the 10-dimensional equations of motion (and the corresponding 11-dimensional M-theory equations). We have reached two key conclusions:

1. By applying the Gibbons-Maldacena-Nunez No-Go Theorem [17–19] to localized static sources we have found that the inclusion in IIB supergravity of Dp- branes,

anti Dp-branes, Op-planes, and by extension any linear combination thereof, does not lead to positive curvature in the 3+1 non-compact directions.

2. The addition of curvature corrections, sourced by D-instantons as well as tree and loop-level graviton scattering, may lead to a de Sitter solution in the 3+1 non-compact directions, although an explicit construction of this would require specifying a metric on the internal manifold as well as a subset of correction terms to consider. Furthermore, this solution naturally leads to compactification with broken supersymmetry, all moduli stabilized, and the generation of a D-term in the scalar potential of the 4d effective field theory.

The first result is a fairly simple extension of the analysis performed by Maldacena-Nunez [19], and Giddings, Kachru, Polchinski [79], among others. Our assumptions in deriving this were limited to demanding (i) maximal symmetry in the 3+1 dimensions, as well as (ii) positive curvature in the 3+1 dimensions. Since we only consider timeindependent matter configurations, the 3+1 dimensional non-compact spacetime we are looking for is 'pure' de Sitter, as opposed to quasi-de Sitter as is usually considered in cosmology. However, to construct any 3+1 dimensional positive curvature geometry, the stress-energy tensor must satisfy the condition (2.8) regardless of the symmetry, and in particular regardless of time dependence.

Note that there are many existing proposals which we have not considered, for example IIA on nilmanifolds [104], IIA on solvmanifolds [105], and non-geometric fluxes [106]. These proposals should also be subject to condition (2.8).

The second result is a non-trivial check that curvature corrections do indeed evade the No-Go theorems. In this calculation we have used an ansatz for the effective stressenergy tensor induced by the curvature corrections, which we view as an appropriate way to proceed given the freedom to set the internal manifold as well as the complicated (and not completely known) form of the curvature corrections.

A worthy question at this point would be the sensitivity of our second result to the form of the ansatz, as it is entirely possible that some choices of internal manifold do not lead to curvature corrections that can be parametrized in this way. Thus a conservative restatement of our second result would be as follows: given a class of internal manifolds that allow the time dependence of the curvature correction to be isolated from other contributions, there do exist de Sitter solutions provided a set of consistency conditions (6.18)-(6.19) is satisfied. This hints at interesting further work, to clarify the consistency of our claims with the work of Sethi et al. [20] which found that such corrections in Heterotic theory do *not* lead to dS solutions.

Upon studying the dS solution obtained via curvature corrections, we uncovered a number of interesting features. Solutions exist for any choice of the Euler characteristic of the internal manifold, including an elliptic fibration of a Calabi-Yau threefold. Furthermore, this setup generically leads to non self-dual fluxes, which break supersymmetry, and induce a D-term in the scalar potential, suggesting that this construction may be a realization of D-term uplifting [34]. The moduli of this setup can be fully stabilized: the complex structure moduli are fixed by the fluxes, while the Kähler moduli are stabilized

by the D-instantons, which in turn source the curvature corrections. Hence our analysis indicates that curvature corrections *can* do the job at hand.

This work has opened up several directions for future research. One option, motivated by the desire for a deeper understanding of string theory, is to continue the investigation of de Sitter solutions, using dualities to relate the solutions in different string theories. This has the potential to clarify subtleties of dualizing non-BPS states, and to allow one to 'map out' the space of dS vacua in string theory.

An alternative way forward is to push this work closer to cosmology, and in particular, inflationary cosmology. While the full 10d equations do not lend themselves to model building, this approach does provide a clear path to studying compactifications with a time-dependent scalar curvature ('quasi-dS'). The appeal of this option lies in building self-consistent embeddings of inflationary cosmology in string theory, with the (albeit ambitious) goal of teasing out distinctive signatures of string theory in the sky. As has happened before, it may be that effects from a full 10-dimensional construction result in observational signatures which do not arise in the effective field theory approach.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Juan Maldacena, Martin Kruczenski, Peter Ouyang, Savdeep Sethi, Sunil Mukhi, Daniel Elander, Anatoly Dymarsky, Ana Achucarro, Johannes Walcher, Sergei Khlebnikov and Shamit Kachru for helpful discussions, as well as the Banff International Research Station where a portion of this work was completed. KD and EM thank Robert H. Brandenberger for many very helpful discussions during the completion of this work. The work of KD is supported in part by the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada. RG is grateful for the support of the European Research Council via the Starting Grant Nr. 256994 "StringCosmOS". The work of MM is supported by DOE through grant DE-SC0007884. We thank Lucie Baumont for her work in the initial stages of this project, and Daniel Junghans for insightful comments on the first draft of this paper.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- G.F. Smoot, C.L. Bennett, A. Kogut, E.L. Wright, J. Aymon et al., Structure in the COBE differential microwave radiometer first year maps, Astrophys. J. 396 (1992) L1 [INSPIRE].
- [2] WMAP collaboration, E. Komatsu et al., Seven-Year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Interpretation, Astrophys. J. Suppl. 192 (2011) 18 [arXiv:1001.4538] [INSPIRE].
- J. Dunkley, R. Hlozek, J. Sievers, V. Acquaviva, P.A.R. Ade et al., The Atacama Cosmology Telescope: Cosmological Parameters from the 2008 Power Spectra, Astrophys. J. 739 (2011) 52 [arXiv:1009.0866] [INSPIRE].

- [4] K.T. Story, C.L. Reichardt, Z. Hou, R. Keisler, K.A. Aird et al., A Measurement of the Cosmic Microwave Background Damping Tail from the 2500-square-degree SPT-SZ survey, Astrophys. J. 779 (2013) 86 [arXiv:1210.7231] [INSPIRE].
- [5] PLANCK collaboration, P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck 2013 results. XXII. Constraints on inflation, arXiv:1303.5082 [INSPIRE].
- [6] PLANCK collaboration, P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological parameters, arXiv:1303.5076 [INSPIRE].
- [7] D.H. Weinberg, M.J. Mortonson, D.J. Eisenstein, C. Hirata, A.G. Riess et al., Observational Probes of Cosmic Acceleration, Phys. Rept. 530 (2013) 87 [arXiv:1201.2434] [INSPIRE].
- [8] R.H. Brandenberger, Introduction to Early Universe Cosmology, PoS(ICFI 2010)001 [arXiv:1103.2271] [INSPIRE].
- [9] J.-L. Lehners, Ekpyrotic and Cyclic Cosmology, Phys. Rept. 465 (2008) 223 [arXiv:0806.1245] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J.-L. Lehners and P.J. Steinhardt, Planck 2013 results support the cyclic universe, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 123533 [arXiv:1304.3122] [INSPIRE].
- [11] D. Baumann and L. McAllister, Advances in Inflation in String Theory, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 59 (2009) 67 [arXiv:0901.0265] [INSPIRE].
- [12] E. Silverstein and D. Tong, Scalar speed limits and cosmology: Acceleration from D-cceleration, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 103505 [hep-th/0310221] [INSPIRE].
- [13] P. Franche, R. Gwyn, B. Underwood and A. Wissanji, Attractive Lagrangians for Non-Canonical Inflation, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 123526 [arXiv:0912.1857] [INSPIRE].
- [14] E. Silverstein, Les Houches lectures on inflationary observables and string theory, arXiv:1311.2312 [INSPIRE].
- [15] C.P. Burgess, S.P. Patil and M. Trott, On the Predictiveness of Single-Field Inflationary Models, JHEP 06 (2014) 010 [arXiv:1402.1476] [INSPIRE].
- [16] J. Martin and R.H. Brandenberger, The TransPlanckian problem of inflationary cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 123501 [hep-th/0005209] [INSPIRE].
- [17] G.W. Gibbons, Aspects Of Supergravity Theories, Print-85-0061, Cambridge (1984).
- [18] G.W. Gibbons, Thoughts on tachyon cosmology, Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003) S321 [hep-th/0301117] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J.M. Maldacena and C. Núñez, Supergravity description of field theories on curved manifolds and a no go theorem, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 16 (2001) 822 [hep-th/0007018] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S.R. Green, E.J. Martinec, C. Quigley and S. Sethi, Constraints on String Cosmology, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 075006 [arXiv:1110.0545] [INSPIRE].
- [21] F.F. Gautason, D. Junghans and M. Zagermann, On Cosmological Constants from α'-Corrections, JHEP 06 (2012) 029 [arXiv:1204.0807] [INSPIRE].
- [22] M.P. Hertzberg, S. Kachru, W. Taylor and M. Tegmark, Inflationary Constraints on Type IIA String Theory, JHEP 12 (2007) 095 [arXiv:0711.2512] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S.S. Haque, G. Shiu, B. Underwood and T. Van Riet, Minimal simple de Sitter solutions, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 086005 [arXiv:0810.5328] [INSPIRE].

- [24] L. Covi, M. Gomez-Reino, C. Gross, J. Louis, G.A. Palma et al., de Sitter vacua in no-scale supergravities and Calabi-Yau string models, JHEP 06 (2008) 057 [arXiv:0804.1073] [INSPIRE].
- [25] A. Maloney, E. Silverstein and A. Strominger, de Sitter space in noncritical string theory, hep-th/0205316 [INSPIRE].
- [26] M.R. Douglas and R. Kallosh, Compactification on negatively curved manifolds, JHEP 06 (2010) 004 [arXiv:1001.4008] [INSPIRE].
- [27] I.P. Neupane, Simple cosmological de Sitter solutions on  $dS_4 \times Y^6$  spaces, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 045011 [arXiv:0901.2568] [INSPIRE].
- [28] I.P. Neupane, Warped compactification on curved manifolds, Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 125015 [arXiv:1006.4495] [INSPIRE].
- [29] M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, C. Mayrhofer, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, *D-Branes at del Pezzo Singularities: Global Embedding and Moduli Stabilisation*, *JHEP* 09 (2012) 019 [arXiv:1206.5237] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, C. Mayrhofer, F. Quevedo and R. Valandro, D3/D7 Branes at Singularities: Constraints from Global Embedding and Moduli Stabilisation, JHEP 07 (2013) 150 [arXiv:1304.0022] [INSPIRE].
- [31] M. Cicoli, D. Klevers, S. Krippendorf, C. Mayrhofer, F. Quevedo et al., Explicit de Sitter Flux Vacua for Global String Models with Chiral Matter, JHEP 05 (2014) 001
   [arXiv:1312.0014] [INSPIRE].
- [32] M. Cicoli, A. Maharana, F. Quevedo and C.P. Burgess, de Sitter String Vacua from Dilaton-dependent Non-perturbative Effects, JHEP 06 (2012) 011 [arXiv:1203.1750]
   [INSPIRE].
- [33] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde and S.P. Trivedi, de Sitter vacua in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 046005 [hep-th/0301240] [INSPIRE].
- [34] C.P. Burgess, R. Kallosh and F. Quevedo, de Sitter string vacua from supersymmetric D terms, JHEP 10 (2003) 056 [hep-th/0309187] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Westphal, de Sitter string vacua from Kähler uplifting, JHEP 03 (2007) 102
   [hep-th/0611332] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Sen, Orientifold limit of F-theory vacua, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 7345 [hep-th/9702165]
   [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Blaback, U.H. Danielsson, D. Junghans, T. Van Riet, T. Wrase et al., Smeared versus localised sources in flux compactifications, JHEP 12 (2010) 043 [arXiv:1009.1877]
   [INSPIRE].
- [38] C. Caviezel, T. Wrase and M. Zagermann, Moduli Stabilization and Cosmology of Type IIB on SU(2)-Structure Orientifolds, JHEP 04 (2010) 011 [arXiv:0912.3287] [INSPIRE].
- [39] B.S. Acharya, F. Benini and R. Valandro, Fixing moduli in exact type IIA flux vacua, JHEP 02 (2007) 018 [hep-th/0607223] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J. Louis, M. Rummel, R. Valandro and A. Westphal, Building an explicit de Sitter, JHEP 10 (2012) 163 [arXiv:1208.3208] [INSPIRE].
- [41] C.M. Hull, Domain wall and de Sitter solutions of gauged supergravity, JHEP 11 (2001) 061 [hep-th/0110048] [INSPIRE].

- [42] G.W. Gibbons and C.M. Hull, de Sitter space from warped supergravity solutions, hep-th/0111072 [INSPIRE].
- [43] P.K. Townsend, Quintessence from M-theory, JHEP 11 (2001) 042 [hep-th/0110072]
   [INSPIRE].
- [44] C.A. Herdeiro, *M-Theory and Cosmology*, Unpublished Notes (2001).
- [45] S. Deser and D. Seminara, Counterterms/M theory corrections to D = 11 supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999) 2435 [hep-th/9812136] [INSPIRE].
- [46] S. Deser and D. Seminara, Tree amplitudes and two loop counterterms in D = 11 supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 084010 [hep-th/0002241] [INSPIRE].
- [47] S. Deser and D. Seminara, Graviton-form invariants in D = 11 supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 027701 [hep-th/0506073] [INSPIRE].
- [48] J. McOrist and S. Sethi, *M-theory and Type IIA Flux Compactifications*, JHEP 12 (2012) 122 [arXiv:1208.0261] [INSPIRE].
- [49] P. Chen, K. Dasgupta, K. Narayan, M. Shmakova and M. Zagermann, Brane inflation, solitons and cosmological solutions: I., JHEP 09 (2005) 009 [hep-th/0501185] [INSPIRE].
- [50] K. Dasgupta, C. Herdeiro, S. Hirano and R. Kallosh, D3/D7 inflationary model and M-theory, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 126002 [hep-th/0203019] [INSPIRE].
- [51] M.J. Duff, J.T. Liu and R. Minasian, Eleven-dimensional origin of string-string duality: A One loop test, Nucl. Phys. B 452 (1995) 261 [hep-th/9506126] [INSPIRE].
- [52] K. Dasgupta, J.P. Hsu, R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde and M. Zagermann, D3/D7 brane inflation and semilocal strings, JHEP 08 (2004) 030 [hep-th/0405247] [INSPIRE].
- [53] K. Becker, M. Becker, K. Dasgupta and P.S. Green, Compactifications of heterotic theory on nonKähler complex manifolds. 1., JHEP 04 (2003) 007 [hep-th/0301161] [INSPIRE].
- [54] K. Becker, M. Becker, P.S. Green, K. Dasgupta and E. Sharpe, Compactifications of heterotic strings on nonKähler complex manifolds. 2., Nucl. Phys. B 678 (2004) 19
   [hep-th/0310058] [INSPIRE].
- [55] K. Becker and M. Becker, M theory on eight manifolds, Nucl. Phys. B 477 (1996) 155 [hep-th/9605053] [INSPIRE].
- [56] M. Dine and N. Seiberg, Couplings and Scales in Superstring Models, Phys. Rev. Lett. 55 (1985) 366 [INSPIRE].
- [57] K. Becker, M. Becker, K. Dasgupta and S. Prokushkin, Properties of heterotic vacua from superpotentials, Nucl. Phys. B 666 (2003) 144 [hep-th/0304001] [INSPIRE].
- [58] F. Denef, M.R. Douglas and B. Florea, Building a better racetrack, JHEP 06 (2004) 034 [hep-th/0404257] [INSPIRE].
- [59] F. Denef, M.R. Douglas, B. Florea, A. Grassi and S. Kachru, Fixing all moduli in a simple F-theory compactification, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 9 (2005) 861 [hep-th/0503124]
   [INSPIRE].
- [60] A. Chodos and S.L. Detweiler, Where Has the Fifth-Dimension Gone?, Phys. Rev. D 21 (1980) 2167 [INSPIRE].
- [61] A. Chodos and S.L. Detweiler, Spherically Symmetric Solutions in Five-dimensional General Relativity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 14 (1982) 879 [INSPIRE].

- [62] P.G.O. Freund, Kaluza-Klein Cosmologies, Nucl. Phys. B 209 (1982) 146 [INSPIRE].
- [63] P.G.O. Freund and M.A. Rubin, Dynamics of Dimensional Reduction, Phys. Lett. B 97 (1980) 233 [INSPIRE].
- [64] T. Appelquist and A. Chodos, The Quantum Dynamics of Kaluza-Klein Theories, Phys. Rev. D 28 (1983) 772 [INSPIRE].
- [65] S. Randjbar-Daemi, A. Salam and J.A. Strathdee, On Kaluza-Klein Cosmology, Phys. Lett. B 135 (1984) 388 [INSPIRE].
- [66] W.J. Marciano, Time Variation of the Fundamental 'Constants' and Kaluza-Klein Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 52 (1984) 489 [INSPIRE].
- [67] R.B. Abbott, S.M. Barr and S.D. Ellis, Kaluza-Klein Cosmologies and Inflation, Phys. Rev. D 30 (1984) 720 [INSPIRE].
- [68] E.W. Kolb, M.J. Perry and T.P. Walker, Time Variation of Fundamental Constants, Primordial Nucleosynthesis and the Size of Extra Dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 33 (1986) 869 [INSPIRE].
- [69] D. La and P.J. Steinhardt, Extended Inflationary Cosmology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 62 (1989) 376 [Erratum ibid. 62 (1989) 1066] [INSPIRE].
- [70] V.A. Kostelecky and S. Samuel, Gravitational Phenomenology in Higher Dimensional Theories and Strings, Phys. Rev. D 40 (1989) 1886 [INSPIRE].
- [71] K. Behrndt and S. Förste, String Kaluza-Klein cosmology, Nucl. Phys. B 430 (1994) 441
   [hep-th/9403179] [INSPIRE].
- [72] A. Lukas, B.A. Ovrut and D. Waldram, Cosmological solutions of type-II string theory, Phys. Lett. B 393 (1997) 65 [hep-th/9608195] [INSPIRE].
- [73] R. Poppe and S. Schwager, String Kaluza-Klein cosmologies with RR fields, Phys. Lett. B 393 (1997) 51 [hep-th/9610166] [INSPIRE].
- [74] A. Lukas, B.A. Ovrut and D. Waldram, String and M-theory cosmological solutions with Ramond forms, Nucl. Phys. B 495 (1997) 365 [hep-th/9610238] [INSPIRE].
- [75] F. Larsen and F. Wilczek, Resolution of cosmological singularities, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 4591 [hep-th/9610252] [INSPIRE].
- [76] J.E. Lidsey, D. Wands and E.J. Copeland, Superstring cosmology, Phys. Rept. 337 (2000) 343 [hep-th/9909061] [INSPIRE].
- [77] S. Gukov, C. Vafa and E. Witten, CFT's from Calabi-Yau four folds, Nucl. Phys. B 584 (2000) 69 [Erratum ibid. B 608 (2001) 477] [hep-th/9906070] [INSPIRE].
- [78] K. Dasgupta, G. Rajesh and S. Sethi, *M theory, orientifolds and G-flux, JHEP* 08 (1999) 023 [hep-th/9908088] [INSPIRE].
- [79] S.B. Giddings, S. Kachru and J. Polchinski, *Hierarchies from fluxes in string compactifications*, *Phys. Rev.* D 66 (2002) 106006 [hep-th/0105097] [INSPIRE].
- [80] K. Becker and K. Dasgupta, Heterotic strings with torsion, JHEP 11 (2002) 006 [hep-th/0209077] [INSPIRE].
- [81] S.B. Giddings and A. Maharana, Dynamics of warped compactifications and the shape of the warped landscape, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 126003 [hep-th/0507158] [INSPIRE].

- [82] E. Bergshoeff, M. de Roo, B. de Wit and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, Ten-Dimensional Maxwell-Einstein Supergravity, Its Currents and the Issue of Its Auxiliary Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 195 (1982) 97 [INSPIRE].
- [83] S. Gukov, S. Kachru, X. Liu and L. McAllister, Heterotic moduli stabilization with fractional Chern-Simons invariants, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 086008 [hep-th/0310159] [INSPIRE].
- [84] M.B. Green and P. Vanhove, Duality and higher derivative terms in M-theory, JHEP 01 (2006) 093 [hep-th/0510027] [INSPIRE].
- [85] D.J. Gross and E. Witten, Superstring Modifications of Einstein's Equations, Nucl. Phys. B 277 (1986) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [86] D.J. Gross and J.H. Sloan, The Quartic Effective Action for the Heterotic String, Nucl. Phys. B 291 (1987) 41 [INSPIRE].
- [87] M.T. Grisaru and D. Zanon, σ Model Superstring Corrections to the Einstein-hilbert Action, Phys. Lett. B 177 (1986) 347 [INSPIRE].
- [88] M.T. Grisaru, A.E.M. van de Ven and D. Zanon, Four Loop  $\beta$ -function for the N = 1 and N = 2 Supersymmetric Nonlinear  $\sigma$ -model in Two-Dimensions, Phys. Lett. **B** 173 (1986) 423 [INSPIRE].
- [89] R.R. Metsaev and A.A. Tseytlin, Curvature Cubed Terms in String Theory Effective Actions, Phys. Lett. B 185 (1987) 52 [INSPIRE].
- [90] K. Choi, A. Falkowski, H.P. Nilles and M. Olechowski, Soft supersymmetry breaking in KKLT flux compactification, Nucl. Phys. B 718 (2005) 113 [hep-th/0503216] [INSPIRE].
- [91] S.P. de Alwis, Effective potentials for light moduli, Phys. Lett. B 626 (2005) 223 [hep-th/0506266] [INSPIRE].
- [92] A. Achucarro, B. de Carlos, J.A. Casas and L. Doplicher, de Sitter vacua from uplifting D-terms in effective supergravities from realistic strings, JHEP 06 (2006) 014 [hep-th/0601190] [INSPIRE].
- [93] A. Achucarro and K. Sousa, *F-term uplifting and moduli stabilization consistent with Kähler invariance*, *JHEP* **03** (2008) 002 [arXiv:0712.3460] [INSPIRE].
- [94] S. Sethi, C. Vafa and E. Witten, Constraints on low dimensional string compactifications, Nucl. Phys. B 480 (1996) 213 [hep-th/9606122] [INSPIRE].
- [95] S. Stieberger, Constraints on Tree-Level Higher Order Gravitational Couplings in Superstring Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 111601 [arXiv:0910.0180] [INSPIRE].
- [96] M. Berg, M. Haack and E. Pajer, Jumping Through Loops: On Soft Terms from Large Volume Compactifications, JHEP 09 (2007) 031 [arXiv:0704.0737] [INSPIRE].
- [97] M. Cicoli, J.P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, Systematics of String Loop Corrections in Type IIB Calabi-Yau Flux Compactifications, JHEP 01 (2008) 052 [arXiv:0708.1873] [INSPIRE].
- [98] F.G. Pedro, M. Rummel and A. Westphal, Extended No-Scale Structure and α<sup>2</sup> Corrections to the Type IIB Action, arXiv:1306.1237 [INSPIRE].
- [99] M.B. Green and M. Gutperle, Effects of D instantons, Nucl. Phys. B 498 (1997) 195 [hep-th/9701093] [INSPIRE].
- [100] P.S. Howe, R<sup>4</sup> terms in supergravity and M-theory, hep-th/0408177 [INSPIRE].

- [101] P.S. Howe and D. Tsimpis, On higher order corrections in M-theory, JHEP 09 (2003) 038 [hep-th/0305129] [INSPIRE].
- [102] L. Anguelova, P.A. Grassi and P. Vanhove, Covariant one-loop amplitudes in D = 11, Nucl. Phys. B 702 (2004) 269 [hep-th/0408171] [INSPIRE].
- [103] T. Banks and M.B. Green, Nonperturbative effects in AdS in five-dimensions  $\times S^5$  string theory and D = 4 SUSY Yang-Mills, JHEP **05** (1998) 002 [hep-th/9804170] [INSPIRE].
- [104] E. Silverstein, Simple de Sitter Solutions, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 106006
   [arXiv:0712.1196] [INSPIRE].
- [105] D. Andriot, E. Goi, R. Minasian and M. Petrini, Supersymmetry breaking branes on solvmanifolds and de Sitter vacua in string theory, JHEP 05 (2011) 028 [arXiv:1003.3774]
   [INSPIRE].
- [106] U. Danielsson and G. Dibitetto, On the distribution of stable de Sitter vacua, JHEP 03 (2013) 018 [arXiv:1212.4984] [INSPIRE].